

# Safer Recruitment Policy

Date approved by Board of Directors	January 2022
Committee	Personnel, Finance and Facilities Committee
Responsible officer	HR Manager
Date of review	July 2023

#### **Document Control sheet**

Revision	Status	Date	Author	Comments
1.0	Final	July 2018	G Thomas	Approved
2.0	Draft	January 2022	G Thomas	Revised taking account of the NSPCC Safer Recruitment policy audit.

Contents		Page
1.	Introduction	4
		-
_	Recruitment Process Overview	4
3.	Job Descriptions for staff and volunteers	5
4.	Advertising	6
5.	Candidate Information Packs	8
6.	Application Form	10
7.	Shortlisting	11
8.	References	12
9.	Interview and selection	14
10.	. Pre-Employment and Safeguarding Checks	22
11.	. Induction/Prohibition Check for Teachers	26
12.	. Disclosure and Barring Checks	29
13.	. Appropriate Checks by Role	35
14.	. Single Central Record (SCR)	41
15.	. Induction, Probation and Code of Conduct	43
16.	. Data Protection	45
17.	. Review	46
18.	Resources	47

# List of Appendices

- Appendix 1 Job Description/Person Specification Template
- Appendix 2 Template Advertisement
- Appendix 3 Reference Request
- Appendix 4 Example Shortlisting Grid
- Appendix 5 Invite to Interview Letter
- Appendix 6 Self Disclosure Form
- Appendix 7 Example Offer Letter
- Appendix 8 Pre-Appointment Checklist
- Appendix 9 Right to work Checklist
- Appendix 10 Overseas Address Template Letter
- Appendix 11 Risk Assessment Form

# 1. Introduction

- 1.1 This Policy has been developed using the Department for Education "Keeping Children Safe In Education - Statutory Guidance for Schools and Colleges" which replaced "Safeguarding Children and Safer Recruitment in Education" guidance issued in 2007 and the DfE Statutory guidance: Regulated Activity (Children) – supervision of activity with children which is regulated activity when unsupervised. The Policy also takes account of the MKET Child Protection and Safeguarding policy and the MKET Whistleblowing (confidential reporting policy).
- 1.2 Milton Keynes Education Trust (MKET) is committed to equal opportunities; it is the policy of the Trust to offer equal opportunities to all applicants at all stages of the recruitment and selection process.
- 1.3 Whilst this policy focuses on safer recruitment, following the procedures demonstrated will also ensure recruitment processes are fair and meet equality and employment law requirements.
- 1.4 Safer recruitment is a set of practices to help make sure staff and volunteers are suitable to work with children and young people. It is a vital part of creating a safe and positive environment and making a commitment to keep children safe from harm. Safer recruitment should be a continuing process of improvement for every school, club, business or organisation whose work or services involve contact with children. It is the responsibility of everyone.
- 1.5 Further guidance should be sought from the school's HR team on any aspect of the recruitment and selection and clearance process around which any uncertainty, difficulty or concern arises.

#### 2 Recruitment Process Overview

2.1 For successful recruitment, it is important to plan the whole process from the outset. This will ensure that sufficient time is allowed between each stage so that applicants are given essential and focussed information about the school and the post they are applying for. This is to deter unsuitable people from applying for the role. It is essential to identify the people that will be involved in the recruitment process and what their responsibilities will be. Additionally, timescales will need to be planned to ensure that there is sufficient time to obtain references, give applicants enough time to prepare for the interview and carry out other pre-employment checks before the successful applicant starts with the organisation.

The time and planning spent at this stage can reduce the risk of making an unsuitable appointment.

2.2 The recruitment process should consist of:

- Reviewing job descriptions and ensuring that they are up to date and that they make reference to the responsibility for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children
- Ensuring that the person specification includes specific reference to suitability to work with children
- Advertising the vacancy in the appropriate media
- Using application forms to obtain and scrutinise comprehensive information about applicants
- Shortlisting against essential criteria for the role to ensure the best applicants are interviewed
- Ensuring references are obtained that help assess applicants suitability for the post through specific focussed questions
- Conducting face to face interviews that ask appropriately robust questions that ensure their suitability to work with children
- Verification of applicant's identity
- Verification of qualifications and skills
- Verification of an applicant's previous employment history and experience
- Verification of the employees Right to Work in the UK
- Completion of appropriate mandatory employment checks via the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS). The Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) helps employers make safer recruitment decisions and prevents unsuitable people from working with vulnerable groups, including children. It replaces the Criminal Records Bureau (CRB) and Independent Safeguarding Authority (ISA).

DBS are responsible for:

- Processing for criminal records checks (DBS checks)
- Deciding whether it is appropriate for a person to be placed on or removed from a barred list and adults' barred list for England, Wales and Northern Ireland.
- Verification that the applicant has the health and capacity to carry out the role by completion of the Occupational Health requirements for all appointed candidates.
- Induction programmes that ensure a "safeguarding children" culture is adopted and embedded into continuing practice
- Probationary Period
- Staff induction and Early Career Teachers Induction
- For teachers prohibition orders

A prohibition order means that the individual concerned is not allowed to undertake unsupervised teaching work in schools, or other set-ups defined under the regulations. Once an individual is prohibited, their details will appear on a Prohibited List, which is administered by the National College for Teaching & Leadership (NCTL) and can be accessed by current and future employers, free of charge.

# 3. Job Descriptions for Staff and Volunteers

3.1 The job description for the post should give a clear account of the main purpose, duties and responsibilities of the role/volunteer role

- 3.2 For teaching staff, the job description will need to be built around the duties and responsibilities defined in the School Teachers' Pay and Conditions Document (STPCD). Generic profiles can be drawn up with specialist areas of responsibility e.g. Curriculum Leader, Head of Year, SENDCO etc.
- 3.3 For support staff, schools should use evaluated job descriptions to adapt as necessary to reflect local needs.
- 3.4 New roles or roles which do not match an already evaluated role should be submitted to the Job Evaluation Team to be evaluated using the job evaluation scheme, this will ensure that the correct grade is allocated to match the responsibilities and duties of the role, therefore, ensuring against equal pay claims.
- 3.5 All job descriptions, where the post holder is in contact with children, should detail the individual's responsibility for promoting and safeguarding the welfare of children and young persons and should include the following statement:

Safeguarding is everybody's business. MKET is committed to ensuring that all our children and young people are safe and feel safe; that children, parents and carers, and staff are able to talk about any safeguarding concerns and feel assured that they will be listened to; and that all staff and volunteers are aware of and implement safeguarding procedures and guidance, including what to do if they suspect a child or young person may be experiencing, or at risk of, harm. We expect everyone who works in our school to share this commitment.

#### This applies to all adults, including volunteers, working in or on behalf of MKET.

- 3.6 The person specification should detail the qualifications, skills and experience along with any other requirements to undertake the role. This should be based on information within the role profile and the conditions applying to the post.
- 3.7 The person specification is crucial in that it will help shape how the recruitment process is conducted. It is essential to separate these features into essential and desirable categories.
- 3.8 Time spent on the production of a full, carefully prepared and objective person specification will invariably avoid later difficulties in interpreting and applying vague and unclear requirements.
- 3.9 The role profile is the document against which the competence of the applicants is measured. It is, therefore, vital that these documents are accurate and reflect the required competencies, skills and experience that are needed for the role.
- 3.10 If the recruitment decision is challenged it will prove difficult to defend such a challenge without an accurate and comprehensive person specification.

# Appendix 1 – MKET Job Description/Person Specification Template

4. Advertising

- 4.1 All vacancies should be advertised to ensure equality of opportunity and a safeguarding commitment. All adverts should include the statement "This Post is Subject to Safer Recruitment" and, "An Enhanced DBS with Barring Check is required for this Post". This may be an internal only advertisement, external of the MKET website or in other media. When the need arises to advertise a post, it is recommended that the following information is included in an advert:
  - Job Title, detailing key stage or subject specialism if appropriate
  - Hours per week
  - Salary (clarifying whether actual or FTE) including any additional allowances payable
  - Whether the role is fixed term or permanent (specify duration if fixed term)
  - Whether the post is term time, term time + x weeks, or all year round
  - Likely start date for position
  - Brief description of the school/ department/team
  - Brief description of role
  - Any experience, qualities or qualifications required for the role
  - Interview dates (if known)
  - Closing date for advert
  - Who to contact for an informal discussion/school visit/ more details about the post
  - School website address
  - Full school address including postcode and telephone number
  - Safeguarding statement
- 4.2 Information will not need to be included that is already contained in the job description and person specification however; the advert content should be consistent with these documents.
- 4.3 The school must explicitly state its commitment to safeguarding children. The following safeguarding statement should be included in all adverts and correspondence to applicants:

Safeguarding is everybody's business. Milton Keynes Education Trust is committed to ensuring that all our children and young people are safe and feel safe; that children, parents and carers, and staff are able to talk about any safeguarding concerns and feel assured that they will be listened to; and that all staff and volunteers are aware of and implement safeguarding procedures and guidance, including what to do if they suspect a child or young person may be experiencing, or at risk of, harm. We expect everyone who works in our school to share this commitment.

This applies to all adults, including volunteers, working in or on behalf of MKET.

4.4 Safeguarding children and adults from abuse is everybody's business. We all share a responsibility, both corporately and individually, to ensure that every person in society is treated with dignity and respect and protected from others who may abuse them. All school employees and contractors who come into contact with children or vulnerable adults in the course of their work have a duty of care to safeguard and promote their welfare and to work to prevent, detect and report neglect and abuse."

4.5 The MKSCP has responsibility for working together to oversee the safety and well-being of children and young people in Milton Keynes.

# **Appendix 2 - Example Advertisement**

#### 5. Candidate Information Packs

- 5.1 The Candidate Information pack/advert should include:
  - Application form
  - A detailed job description and person specification
  - Details about grade and type of post e.g. Is it fixed term, part time etc.
  - Details of key terms and conditions of employment e.g. term time only, holiday entitlement
  - Information about the recruitment and selection process i.e. interview dates or details of observations, interview tasks etc.
  - Safeguarding statement
  - Equal opportunities statement see below
  - Positive about people with a disability see below
  - Details about what employment checks will be required

#### 5.2 Separate advice is available for Headteacher recruitment

The Equality Act 2010 covers nine protected characteristics, which cannot be used as a reason to treat people unfairly. Every person has one or more of the protected characteristics; so, the act has the effect of protecting everyone against unfair treatment. The protected characteristics are:

- age
- disability
- gender reassignment(including those in transition)
- marriage and civil partnership
- pregnancy and maternity
- race
- religion or belief
- sex
- sexual orientation

# 5.3 MKET – "Equal Opportunities" Statement

"MKET is an equal opportunities employer. The aim of the Equalities Policy is to ensure that no job applicant or employee receives less favourable treatment on the grounds of race, colour, nationality, gender, sexual orientation, marital status, age, religion or any disability nor is disadvantaged by conditions or requirements which cannot be shown to be justifiable."

5.4 Pre-Employment Health Check Statement - Interviewees may be asked about their physical ability to perform the role during interview. As a condition of the offer of employment, the successful applicant will be asked to complete an Occupational Health questionnaire. The successful applicant may be required to attend a medical examination.

#### 5.5 References

On the application form the applicant will be asked to provide names and addresses of two people who will provide a reference. At least one should be from the applicant's current/most recent employer. If they are not currently working with children, but have done so in the past, it is important that a reference is obtained from the employer by whom they were most recently employed working with children.

Employment references **will not** be accepted from relatives or people writing solely in the capacity of friends. However, in the absence of employment/professional references, the applicant's referees may include someone that they know with standing in the community i.e. a teacher, vicar etc.

References will be taken up for all shortlisted candidates and wherever possible these will be applied for prior to interview. All references should be related to working with children, and, if possible, should be for a minimum of 5 year. If the candidate has not worked with children in their current or previous employment, references should go back to a time when they last worked with a child.

Please note, where a follow up discussion is required following receipt of a written reference, the details of this conversion should be documented and retained. The applicant is able to request a copy of this information and, where appropriate, challenge for accuracy.

#### Appendix 3 – Template Reference Request

#### 5.6 **Right to Work in the UK**

Applicants must be entitled to work in the UK before they can start work in the school. If the Appointing Manager has any doubts on their ability to work in the UK, they should access the following website: <u>https://www.gov.uk/browse/visas-immigration</u>

# 6. Application Form

- 6.1 All applicants must complete a standard school application form. It is not acceptable practice to accept just a CV produced by a potential employee. By using these forms, schools will ensure all necessary information is gathered and that they adhere to the DfE Statutory guidance for schools: 'Keeping Children Safe in Education'' revised in September 2016.
- 6.2 A completed application form provides schools with the information that is required in order to shortlist a person for interview and acts as an applicant's signed and dated declaration of the qualifications, skills and experience that they possess. Where candidates complete electronically online they should be asked to sign a printed copy of their application at interview.
- 6.3 Where an applicant can download an application form to complete, the school should ensure no sections or questions have been deleted.
- 6.4 The use of the correct application form also ensures that applicants declare any criminal convictions as it includes the following paragraph:
  "Do you have any convictions, cautions, reprimands or final warnings that are not "protected" as defined by the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) Order 1975 (as amended in 2014)".
- 6.5 Although word of mouth recommendations and speculative enquiries about vacancies are useful tools in recruitment, applicants making speculative contact should be asked to apply for a specific post and complete the relevant school application form.
- 6.6 Requiring candidates to complete an application form ensures a common set of core data is gathered from all applicants and will make certain that all the necessary information recommended by the DFE is collected. It is also easy to judge against the person specification. MKET Application Forms include the following information:
  - Contact details including name, address, date of birth, telephone number and email address
  - Previous work experience including dates of employment
  - Academic and Vocational qualifications, including Awarding Body and date of study
  - Referee details and a declaration that the employer can contact any referee when the post involves working with children
  - Supplementary information (to include how the person specification is met)
  - An explanation that the post is exempt from the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) Order 1975 (as amended in 2014)" and, therefore, all non-protected cautions, convictions and bind-over's.
  - For Teachers, the application will include Teacher reference number, QTS Status.
- 6.7 The application form will also include the following statements which contribute to

safer recruitment:

- Please detail full employment history in chronological order since leaving secondary education
- Please include periods of any post-secondary education/training, part time and voluntary work as well as full time employment, with start and end dates
- Please provide explanations for periods not in employment or education/training and reasons for leaving employment
- If you are not currently working with children/young people but have done so in the past, it is important that a reference is obtained from the employer by whom you were most recently employed working with children/young people. Please provide contact details
- Employment references will not be accepted from relatives or people writing solely in the capacity of friends

# 7. Shortlisting

- 7.1 All applications should be carefully scrutinised to ensure they are fully and properly completed.
- 7.2 All applicants should be assessed equally against the criteria in the person specification without exception or variation. This should be recorded on a short listing matrix.
- 7.3 Any anomalies, discrepancies or gaps in employment should be accounted for and clarified at interview. Repeated and regular changes in employment should also be noted and reasons explored at interview. Unusual leaving dates for teachers should be investigated.

**Note**: - For the purpose of resignations and notice periods, the dates of the three school terms are:

- Autumn term from 1 September 31 December inclusive
- Spring term from 1 January 30 April inclusive
- Summer term from 1 May 31 August inclusive

Therefore, teachers wishing to leave their jobs must observe the following deadlines when giving notice:

- to leave at 31 December, give notice by no later than 31 October
- to leave at 30 April, give notice by no later than 28 February
- to leave at 31 August, give notice by no later than 31 May

#### Appendix 4 – Example Shortlisting Grid

7.4 The panel should **not** have access to equal opportunities monitoring data whilst shortlisting. This protects the school should an individual raise a claim of

discrimination.

- 7.5 A minimum of two people should carry out the short listing process, one of which should have completed appropriate safer recruitment training.
- 7.6 Candidates who meet the essential criteria for the post should normally only be interviewed. If there are a large number of applications, it is recommended that scores are based on desirable as well as essential criteria, to ensure that the best applicants are selected for interview. Where a candidate is known, scores should be based on the information provided on the application form only.
- 7.7 Shortlisted candidates should be asked to complete a self-declaration of their criminal record or information that would make them unsuitable to work with children. Self-declaration is subject to Ministry of Justice guidance on the disclosure of criminal records, further information can be found on GOV.UK
- 7.8 Shortlisting information/grids should be retained for 6 months by the school, as they provide evidence should any applicant raise an issue about the fairness of the recruitment process

# 8. References

- 8.1.1 Written references should be sought for all shortlisted applicants, including internal applicants, prior to interview (where their consent has been given), so that any issues of concern they raise including past capability/disciplinary action, allegations or discrepancies, can be explored further with the referee, and taken up with the candidate at interview.
- 8.1.2 The purpose of seeking references is to obtain objective and factual information to support appointment decisions. References should always be obtained, scrutinised and any concerns resolved satisfactorily, before the appointment is confirmed. Two references are requested on the application form, but it should be noted that this is a minimum requirement.
- 8.1.3 Employment references should usually be provided by the current or most recent line manager. References from relatives or people writing solely in the capacity of friends must not be accepted. They should always be requested directly from the referee and employers should not rely on open references, for example in the form of 'to whom it may concern' testimonials.
- 8.1.4 If the applicant is not currently in a role, which involves working with children, but has previously been in such a role, a reference which relates to that work should be sought.
- 8.1.5 Schools should scrutinise the referees given to determine whether they are sufficient and the most appropriate.

- 8.1.6 If it is felt that referees provided are not the most appropriate, contact should be made with the applicant and a more suitable reference requested. If, after requesting and following up several times a reference is not obtained from either of the referees provided, the applicant should be asked to contact their referee and encourage them to supply the reference.
- 8.1.7 Sometimes referees will only provide a factual reference confirming dates of employment, particularly where employment does not involve working with children and young people.
- 8.1.8 Additional references may be asked for where appropriate, as appointments should not be made on the basis of two factual references.
- 8.1.9 For further advice, schools should speak to their HR provider.

# 8.2 What to Include In a Reference Request

- 8.2.1 Reference requests should contain details of the post on offer and should be structured to ask a referee to comment on specific areas relating to the post. Schools should always ask a referee to comment on the prospective employee's suitability to undertake the post on offer, to work with children and should specifically request any information on criminal convictions, capability/disciplinary offences/safeguarding incidents
- 8.2.2 Employers should always ask for written information about previous employment history and check that information is not contradictory or incomplete.
- 8.2.3 Under the Equalities Act, levels of sickness absence **cannot** be requested prior to interview, but these can be requested for the successful candidate after the job offer stage. Any offer will be conditional on satisfactory health clearance and pre-employment checks.
- 8.2.4 The purpose of collecting references is to obtain objective and factual information to support the appointment decision. The use of a pro forma, tailored to the specific needs of the school, will help achieve this. Job descriptions should always be provided so that the referees can comment on the individual's suitability for the specific post in question.
- 8.2.5 On receipt, references should be checked to ensure that all specific questions have been answered satisfactorily. The referee should be contacted to provide further clarification as appropriate, for example, if the answers are vague. They should also be compared for consistency with the information provided by the candidate on their application form. Any discrepancies should be taken up with the candidate.
- 8.2.6 If, for whatever reason, references are not obtained before the interview, the

candidate should also be asked at interview if there is anything s/he wishes to declare or discuss in light of the questions that have been (or will be) put to his or her referees.

- 8.2.7 Any information about past capability/disciplinary action or allegations should be considered carefully when assessing the applicant's suitability for the post
- 8.2.8 Schools should contact HR if they have concerns about references obtained either prior to interview or after they have offered the position to the successful candidate.
- 8.2.9 It should be noted, where a follow up discussion is required following receipt of a written reference, the details of this conversion should be documented and retained. The applicant is able to request a copy of this information and, where appropriate, challenge for accuracy.
- 8.2.10 Any offer of employment must be made subject to the receipt of satisfactory references. It is vital that the references are obtained and scrutinised before a person's appointment is confirmed and before s/he starts work.

# **Appendix 3 - Template Reference Request**

#### 9. Interview and Selection

#### 9.1 Purpose of Interview

- 9.1.1 It is essential that a face to face interview takes place prior to any appointment. The interviews should assess the merits of each candidate against the requirements in the role profile. Interviews must also explore an individual's suitability to work with children by assessing values and behaviours.
- 9.1.2 A robust selection process should not rely solely on the interview. A range of selection activities should be designed in order to help assess who is the most suitable candidate for the role. For teachers and support staff roles, it may be legitimate to involve pupils in the process. Pupils should not take part in assessing candidate suitability but may contribute to the panel's assessment of the ability to interact with children.

#### 9.2 Invitation to Interview

- 9.2.1 Invitations to interview should:
  - Detail all the arrangements such as date, time, length of the selection process, selection activities, panel members
  - Remind candidates that the interview is assessing their suitability to work with children

- Remind them to bring all relevant documents, proof of qualifications, proof of identity, evidence of right to work. Copies should not be accepted; it is originals only that can be presented. Copies should be taken and kept on the school file, then signed and dated by the individual who has seen the original documentation
- Ask applicants if they have any special requirements to enable them to attend or participate fully in the interview.
- Provide details of any recruitment activities that applicants will need to prepare, for example, lesson, assembly or presentation. Give details of length and nature of task, year groups, equipment available etc. Be prepared to answer additional questions relating to this.
- Self-disclosure form

# Appendix 5 – Invite To Interview Letter

# Appendix 6 – Self Disclosure Form

# 9.3 Checks to Be Carried Out At Interview

- 9.3.1 The following checks on applicants should be carried out at the interview stage.
  - Establish that the person attending the interview is who they say they are (Identity check)
  - Establish that the person, if appointed, will have the right to work in the UK
  - Ensure that the copy of the application has been signed. If the individual has applied on line, the applicant should be asked to sign a printed copy of their form at interview
  - See evidence of the qualifications essential for the role including proof of Qualified Teacher Status and completed induction for teachers.

#### 9.4 Selection and Interview Panel

- 9.4.1 The School Staffing Regulations require that the Governing Body must ensure that at least one member of the interview panel or group has completed Safer Recruitment training. IHasco provides Safer Recruitment Training courses which can be completed every three years.
- 9.4.2 Panels of at least two people should be involved in interviews, written notes should be taken. The panel members should meet beforehand to agree a relevant set of questions that will enable the candidate's suitability against the selection criteria and suitability to work with children to be assessed. They will also need to have identified any issues they want to explore further from the candidate's application form and pre-employment checks.
- 9.4.3 Schools should ensure that sufficient numbers of staff and governors are trained in advance of recruitment activities to form interview panels when necessary.

# 9.5 Interviewing Good Practice

- Avoid telephone interviews
- Have an agreed set of questions but additional questions can be asked to explore a specific and relevant issue relating to individual candidates
- Probe to find out about any issues around attendance (not sickness), capability and employment history
- Identify which essential criteria each recruitment task is designed to evaluate
- Make notes on candidates responses/performance and record judgements and the evidence to support them
- Ask questions that enable a candidate to demonstrate strengths based on actual experiences and behaviour
- Ensure all questions are relevant to the role and justifiable
- Use a matrix to standardise this information
- Avoid any question or statement that may indicate the potential for unlawful discrimination
- Conduct the interview in a relaxed and non-threatening way
- Base final selection decision on criteria previously defined and evidence collated through the recruitment process
- 9.5.1 To further assess the suitability of the candidate for the particular post the interview panel should also examine:
  - The candidate's attitude toward children
  - This may be assessed through their personal statement and through interview questions that probe their values, belief and ethics
  - The candidates motivation to work with children questions on their vision for education and learning and development of the child and young person and what their role is in contributing towards achieving this vision, can help assess their motivation
  - Their ability to form relationships and respect professional boundaries this should be assessed through focused questions and complementary activities
  - Their emotional resilience in working with challenging behaviours and their attitudes in managing discipline and towards authority - questions asking them to draw on previously difficult situations and how they managed these will help assess this
  - Their ability to support the school's agenda for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children clarification of their understanding of the school's approach towards child protection policies and procedures
  - Gaps in the candidate's employment history and explanation of repeated changes in career must be discussed and clarified
  - Concerns or discrepancies arising from the information provided by the candidate and or referees

- If for any reason, references have not been provided before the interview the candidate should be given the opportunity to declare/discuss anything that may come to light on the collection of references
- Whether the candidate wishes to declare anything in the light of the requirement for a DBS check to be made

# 9.6 Questioning Technique

9.6.1 The ability to ask questions that probe deeper and get beneath superficial answers is a skill that takes time to develop and practice. Those who wish to deceive are practiced in the art of deception. They may rehearse model answers to questions about safeguarding or areas of their past and it is essential that the questions asked unpick these responses so that there can be confidence in the validity of the answers.

# 9.7 Example Questions Designed to Examine an Interviewee's Attitudes toward Safeguarding Children

- 9.7.1 The following example questions are from the public version of the National College for Teaching & Leadership online training:
  - What attracted you to teaching/ this post/ at this school/working with children?
  - How do you think your own childhood may have influenced your own practice?
  - What motivates young people?
  - Tell us about your interests outside work?
  - What do you think are the professional challenges facing teachers today?
  - Give an example of where you have had to deal with bullying behaviour between pupils?

What did you do? What made it successful? How could you have dealt with it differently?

- Young people can develop 'crushes'. How would you deal with this if a pupil developed a crush on you?
- What would you do if you were concerned about a colleague's behaviour towards children?
- Give an example of how you have managed poor pupil behaviour?
- Give an example of how you have responded to challenging behaviour? How did it affect you emotionally? How did you cope with the aftermath?
- When do you think it is appropriate to physically intervene in a situation involving young people? Have you ever had to do this?
- What makes a school a safe and caring place?
- What policies are important to support a safe environment?
- What are staff's responsibilities in protecting children?
- How do you define an appropriate teacher (or business support/TA) pupil relationship?
- Give examples of what you would consider to be appropriate and inappropriate behaviour between/toward staff and pupils.
- Have allegations ever been made about you at work? What were the

circumstances?

- 9.7.2 Other questions that could be asked are:
  - Tell us what you have done in the last 12 months to actually improve child protection in the workplace. How did this action arise? Who did you talk to? What were the results?
  - Give me an example of when you have had safeguarding concerns about a child? What did you do? Who did you involve? What was the outcome?
  - Tell us about a situation which you felt, fell short of safeguarding standards. How did it arise? Who did you speak to? What actions did you take?
  - Tell us about how you have dealt with a child with 'difficulties'?
  - What are your feelings about children who make allegations against teachers or staff?
- 9.7.3 Some of these questions will need following up, for example:
  - How do you define an appropriate teacher (or business support/TA etc.) pupil relationship?
- 9.7.4 Could be followed up by:
  - So can you explain how you have ensured in your previous role that you have modelled this relationship? Were there times when boundaries were blurred? How did you manage this? What have you learnt from this?
- 9.7.5 By asking a follow up question you start to unpick the initial answer and investigate the validity of the answers. By using other tests and assessments activities you can increase the level of confidence you have when making the final selection decision.

# 9.8 Group Exercises and other Selection Activities

- Classroom observation
- Group activities discussions on relevant topics
- Written work i.e. in-tray exercise or data analysis
- Presentations
- Occupational Personality Questionnaire/psychometric testing
- Assembly observation
- Playground duty
- Meeting the Pupil Council
- 9.8.1 Above are some examples of the activities that can provide evidence that may help a panel in assessing an individual's suitability for a particular post. All activities are required to be aimed at seeking evidence that candidates fulfil specific parts of the role profile and the assessment of each candidate should be recorded in a way that

captures this. The more information that is collected and in as many different contexts, the better the ultimate selection decision will be.

- 9.8.2 It should be noted that all the assessment activities must be about seeking evidence about the candidate's suitability for the post as detailed in the application pack, role profile.
- 9.8.3 It is not as easy to ensure consistency and equality when managing group activities, particularly when classes of children are involved. It is important to be mindful of the equality implications when planning and arranging other assessment activities and ensure that the criteria which are being assessed are the same and that all measures are put in place to make the foundations of the assessment as similar and equal as possible. By recording the activities on matrices that collect evidence and link to the role profile these complimentary activities remain more objective.

# 9.9 Topics for Group Discussion/ Written Work/ Presentations Could Be:

- What does safeguarding mean to you/group? Present/discuss/write your ideas along with suggestions for monitoring and measuring effectiveness.
- Where does the responsibility for safeguarding children lie? Discuss the interrelationships and present your conclusions.
- Present a topical article on child protection and ask them to discuss.
- Present them with the 5 key aims of the Children's Act and ask them to present how they can contribute towards ensuring that they are achieved.
- Present them with a case study of a child with 'difficult behaviour'/or based on cause for concerns discuss.
- What is abuse? How do you recognise it and how do you manage it? Discuss/ present?
- 9.9.1 With any assessments it needs to be clear why the applicant will be asked to undertake the assessment. What skills, knowledge and experience are being looked at? What would a model answer look like? What would cause concern? This should be documented in advance to help the panel avoid bias.
- 9.9.2 The assessment of such activities should be collected on a structured assessment sheet. This should be kept with a record of the interview sheets and application forms.

#### 9.10 After the Interview

9.10.1 The applicants should be informed at interview stage when a decision will be reached. Once the decision is made, usually the head teacher or another appropriate person will contact the successful candidate and verbally offer the position to them. See the next section for details of what to include in the verbal offer. A verbal offer is contractually binding and conditional on satisfactory pre-employment checks. The successful candidate should be spoken to first.

- 9.10.2 If permission wasn't obtained prior to interview to request references for the successful candidate, permission should be sought during this conversation, and references requested as a matter of urgency. Candidates may request a short while to speak to their existing employer before contact is made for a reference.
- 9.10.3 If, as part of the reference process, sickness absence levels are required to be discussed, referees can be asked once the successful applicant has been offered the position.
- 9.10.4 It is good practice to provide unsuccessful applicants with feedback and giving them the opportunity to ask further questions. This may be done when verbal acceptance has been received from the successful applicant, but it is recommended to do this as promptly as possible after interviews via a telephone call and thank them for their interest in your vacancy/school.

# 9.11 Offers of Employment

- 9.11.1 It is essential that every appointment is made subject to satisfactory completion of all the relevant pre-employment checks, and candidates should be made aware of this.
- 9.11.2 If the candidate does not meet one or more of the conditions applied to a conditional job offer, the school can withdraw the offer of employment. It is good practice for the recruiting manager to telephone the candidate to explain that a condition of the offer has not been met and that the offer of employment is being withdrawn. This conversation should be followed up in writing. It is important that the candidate is treated fairly at this potentially difficult time so that he or she leaves the recruitment process with a positive view of the school. The school should make a record of the reasons for withdrawing the offer and the main points of the conversation. Schools can seek advice from their HR provider on any issues surrounding withdrawing offers of employment.

#### 9.12 Conditions of Offer

An offer of employment should be conditional upon:

- Receipt of at least two written references which are satisfactory to the Headteacher
- Proof of the candidates identity (preferably photographic evidence)
- A satisfactory enhanced DBS check
- A check against the Children's Barred List, if required (Regulated Activity Only)
- Overseas checks (where applicable)
- Satisfactory pre-employment health clearance (for employees)
- Proof of qualifications; where the qualification is an essential requirement of the role
- For teachers no prohibition orders
- For teachers successful completion of an induction period (unless joining as an NQT)

- Evidence of Right to Work for all employees
- Headteacher appointments are also subject to agreement by the full governing body
- Disqualification by Association (where applicable). For information, please refer to the following: <u>Disqualification by Association</u>

# 9.13 Verbal Offer

- 9.13.1 It is recommended that applicants are informed of the outcome by telephone. Successful applicants should be made aware that the offer is still subject to certain checks and conditions which are detailed above. Verbal offers are contractually binding.
- 9.13.2 In many cases, the checks are a formality and the individual will be aware if there is likely to be a problem with one or more of their checks, but if the offer has to be withdrawn or the contract has to be terminated later because of problems in these areas, it helps that it was mentioned at the verbal offer stage as well as in the offer letter and contract.
- 9.13.3 The individual may choose not to give in their notice until some or all of these preemployment checks have been completed, so the checks should be completed as soon as possible. It is also easier to withdraw an offer of employment prior to the individual starting work so pre-employment checks should be carried out promptly
- 9.13.4 However, a DBS check should not be completed more than 3 months prior to the person taking up the post.
- 9.13.5 It is recommended that the main salary and benefits are quoted in the verbal offer, but do be prepared to answer the successful candidate's other questions. These may include the:
  - current salary value
  - additional allowances
  - details of incremental progression/salary review in the grade
  - the cash value of other benefits
  - details of relocation assistance to be offered where applicable
  - specific details of the hours of work
  - annual leave, which may be increased by continuous local government service
  - pension scheme.

All the above information will be in the written offer, but the answers you give may be relevant as to whether or not they accept the offer.

#### 9.14 Offer Letter

If schools wish to send an offer letter, it should clearly state the appointment is

subject to the checks detailed above. It should contain enough information for an individual to make the decision as to whether resign from their current position, without having to wait for the formal contract to be issued.

# Appendix 7 - Example Offer Letter Appendix 8 – Pre-Appointment Checklist

# 9.15 Contract/Written Offer

- 9.15.1 Once the school informs the HR Team, of all the necessary details of the successful candidate, they will prepare a contract which states terms and condition of employment. All contracts should state that the offer is subject to DBS (and Barred list checks, where applicable) pre-employment health clearance and written references if they have not yet been obtained.
- 9.15.2 Schools should ensure that they have checked the following, prior to the issue of the contract to the employee
  - Proof of the candidate's identity (preferably photographic)
  - Proof of qualifications, where the qualification is an essential requirement of the role
  - Evidence of Right to Work
  - For teachers, a check to ensure no prohibitions or sanctions prevent them working as a qualified teacher
  - Receipt of at least two written references which are satisfactory to the Headteacher
  - A satisfactory enhanced DBS check
  - A check against the Children's Barred List if required (Regulated Activity Only)
  - Overseas checks (where applicable)
  - Satisfactory pre-employment health clearance (for employees)
  - For teachers a check to ensure no prohibition orders
  - For teachers successful completion of an induction period (unless joining as an NQT)
  - Headteacher appointments are also subject to agreement by the full governing body
  - Disqualification by Association (where applicable). For information, please refer to the following: <u>Disqualification by Association</u>
- 9.15.3 If a teacher is being employed as a salaried trainee, or as an ECT, it is important to inform the HR Team in order that additional clauses are inserted into their contract that requires them to participate in formal training or statutory induction.

# **10.** Pre-Employment and Safeguarding Checks

10.1.1 It is vital that schools create a culture of safer recruitment and, as part of that; they are required to adopt recruitment procedures that help deter, reject or identify people who might abuse children.

- 10.1.2 School should ensure appropriate checks to safeguard children have been carried out for all employees, agency staff and volunteers working in the school, as well as ensuring others visiting/working in the school have appropriate checks in place.
- 10.1.3 This section details which checks should be carried out dependent on the role/ employment status of the individual. The following checks should be carried out for all employees of the school.
- 10.1.4 At interview stage:
  - Receipt of a signed application form
  - Proof of the candidate's identity.
  - Evidence of Right to Work in the UK
- 10.1.5 After the offer of an appointment:
  - Receipt of at least two written references which are satisfactory to the Headteacher if not received prior to interview
  - Satisfactory pre-employment health clearance
  - Proof of qualifications; where the qualification is an essential requirement of the role
  - For teachers, a check that there are no prohibition orders and they have successfully completed an induction period, or will do so in this position
  - Checking of driving licence and insurance for any employee who is required to drive on school business i.e. school mini-bus drivers
  - A satisfactory enhanced DBS check
  - A check against the Children's Barred List if required
  - Overseas checks (where applicable)
- 10.1.6 Further information of these checks for employees is detailed below.
- 10.1.7 Schools may find it helpful to use a pre-employment checklist for all new employees to ensure all checks are completed in a timely manner and the necessary information recorded and retained. An example checklist is in **Appendix 7.**

# 10.2 Identity Check

- 10.2.1 Headteachers and governing bodies should make certain that the person they intend to employ or work in the school is the person that they claim to be and they must see sufficient evidence to satisfy themselves of this.
- 10.2.2 Proof of identity is preferably checked via current photographic ID such as a passport or driving licence (a driving licence would not prove your right to work in the UK), combined with evidence of address. Some form of photographic identity should be seen except where, for exceptional reasons, none is available.

10.2.3 Photocopies of identity checks should be taken and retained at the school. The copies should be signed and dated to confirm that the original has been seen.

# **10.3** Right to Work in the UK

- 10.3.1 It is a criminal offence to employ a person who does not have the right to work in the UK or the right to undertake the type of work that they are being offered. The law on preventing illegal working is set out in the Immigration, Asylum and Nationality Act 2006 (updated in May, July and December 2014 and July 2016) and requires that employers make basic document checks on every person that they intend to employ. Schools will have a statutory defence against a conviction for employing an illegal worker if they check and retain copies of acceptable documentation in accordance with the aforementioned act.
- 10.3.2 It is important that employers do not directly, indirectly or inadvertently discriminate against people on grounds of their race or ethnic origin by refusing to accept any documents from the list, by failing to carry out checks on every new employee or by making assumptions about a person's nationality or right to work in the UK.

# Appendix 9 - Right to Work Checklist – List of Documents that Determine the Right to Work

- 10.3.3 It should be noted that changes made in the Immigration, Asylum and Nationality Act 2014 (updated in May, July and December 2014 and July 2016) resulted in a reduced list of acceptable documents for right to work checks and removed travel documents, work permits and general Home Office letters from the lists and in July 2016 altered the penalties for employing illegal workers.
- 10.3.4 The Home Office have specified that all documents which contain an expiry date must now be current (except those showing that the holder is a British citizen or, a national of a European Economic Area (EEA) country).
- 10.3.5 Copies must be made of the documents seen and should be signed and dated to confirm that the original has been seen and kept on the employees file. If the school has a UK Visas and Immigration inspection, these documents will be requested
- 10.3.6 If a passport is presented for Right to Work (RTW) purposes, a copy of the photograph pages and any visas/stamps in the passport relating to the employee's right to work or residency in the UK must be retained.
- 10.3.7 Where RTW is restricted in some way, usually via a visa/residence permit, a copy of the documents seen should be forwarded to the HR Team.
- 10.3.8 For advice on Right to Work queries, the school should contact the HR Team.

Schools must follow the Right to Work guidance at the following link before allowing an employee to commence work. Failure to do so could mean that the School will be in breach of law and liable to a fine.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/right-to-work-checks-employersguide

# **10.4** Academic and Professional Qualifications

- 10.4.1 Schools must verify that a potential employee has actually achieved the qualifications that are essential to the role or were used to make the decision to employ, by viewing each original qualification certificate or diploma or a properly certified copy of those documents. If the school is in any doubt about the authenticity of a qualification, they can check by contacting the relevant awarding institution.
- 10.4.2 Copies of the certificates should be signed and dated stating the original has been seen and should be kept on the individuals file.
- 10.4.3 The equivalence of overseas qualifications can be checked by the school at UK NARIC, they will provide Statement of Comparability, which should be checked by the school along with original overseas certificates.

#### **10.5** Qualified Teacher Status

- 10.5.1 The National College for Teaching and Leadership (NCTL) is the current awarding body for QTS. Schools must see original certificates/letters from the awarding body confirming that the individual has been awarded QTS. Copies of the certificates should be signed and dated stating that the original has been seen and should be kept on the individuals file.
- 10.5.2 Having a teacher reference number is **not** proof of QTS. A teacher reference number is a unique identifier for all individuals who are eligible for the Teachers' Pension Scheme and are, therefore, also issued to unqualified teachers and Youth Workers.
- 10.5.3 The certificates awarding academic qualifications such as PGCE or BA Ed are **not** proof of QTS. The school must see the letter from the awarding body confirming Qualified Teacher Status.

#### **10.6** Overseas Trained Teachers

- 10.6.1 Overseas trained teachers can work in a maintained school or non-maintained special school in England for a maximum of four years without qualified teacher status but must obtain QTS after a four year period or before, before they can be appointed to a permanent role.
- 10.6.2 Schools must check that this four year rule has not been exceeded by examining employment history on the application form. For details of exemptions, contact the

School's HR Provider.

# **10.7** Application for QTS - Teachers Not Trained In England

- 10.7.1 Teachers who trained in either Scotland or Northern Ireland must obtain QTS to take up a teaching post in a maintained school or non-maintained special school in England.
- 10.7.2 If an EEA member state recognises an individual as a qualified school teacher they can apply for QTS in England. Swiss nationals are also eligible to apply for QTS in England.
- 10.7.3 If a teacher qualified in Australia, Canada, New Zealand or the United States of America (USA), they may be recognised as a qualified teacher and can apply for QTS in England. Usually they will have to complete any statutory induction in their home country before UK QTS is awarded. They will still be required to satisfy any UK Visas and Immigration requirements that may apply for the purposes of entering or remaining in the UK to work as a teacher.
- 10.7.4 If a teacher trained in a country outside of the EEA, other than Australia, Canada, New Zealand or the USA, the teacher will need to complete an accredited training programme in England to obtain QTS and take up a permanent teaching post or fixed term lasting beyond one term and complete a statutory induction.

# **10.8** Teachers Qualified To Teach In Further Education

- 10.8.1 If a teacher has qualifications to teach in the further education sector they can work in maintained schools in England as a qualified teacher if they have the full professional status of qualified teacher learning and skills (QTLS) with the Education and Learning Foundation
- 10.8.2 If they have QTLS status and membership of the Education and Learning Foundation, a teacher will automatically be recognised as a qualified teacher in schools in England. They do not need to apply for QTS. The school should retain evidence of both QTLS and membership of the Education and Learning Foundation
- 10.8.3 There are a number of FE teaching qualifications, but only in the above circumstances should the individual be employed as a qualified teacher. If a school is in any doubt as to whether a teacher has QTS, or what options are available to the teacher to obtain QTS they should contact their HR provider.

#### **11.** Induction/Prohibition Check for Teachers

#### 11.1.1 Secretary of State - Prohibition Orders

Prohibition orders prevent a person from carrying out teaching work in schools. A

person who is prohibited from teaching must not be appointed to work as a teacher. A check of any prohibition can be carried out using the Employer Access Online Service.

- 11.1.2 The Employer Access Online Service will also identify any existing prohibitions and sanctions made by the General Teaching Council for England (GTCE) before its abolition at the end of March 2012, and provide information about any teacher qualifications held and whether induction has been passed.
- 11.1.3 Carrying out this check for the successful candidate in a teaching post is mandatory. This check should be carried out prior to interview for shortlisted candidates, this will identify any issues relating to induction that could be discussed at interview. Qualified teachers employed in a maintained school in England must, by law, have completed an induction period after their initial training. The check will confirm whether a teacher has:
  - qualified teacher status (QTS)
  - completed their induction
  - a mandatory qualification for teachers of hearing impaired or visually impaired pupils
  - an active teaching restriction
  - been the subject of a decision by the Secretary of State to impose a prohibition order for unacceptable professional conduct, conduct that may bring the teaching profession into disrepute or conviction of a relevant offence
  - been prohibited from teaching
  - a suspension or conditional order imposed by the General Teaching Council for England that is still current
  - failed an induction
  - an individual's teacher reference number and date of birth

# **11.2** Section 128 direction

11.2.1 A section 128 direction prohibits or restricts an unsuitable individual from participating in the management of an independent school, including academies and free schools. An individual who is subject to a section 128 direction is unable to:

take up a management position in an independent school, academy, or in a free school as an employee;

be a trustee of an academy or free school trust; a governor or member of a proprietor body of an independent school; or,

be a governor on any governing body in an independent school, academy or free school that retains or has been delegated any management responsibilities.

11.2.2 Copies of the check should be kept on the employees file

# **11.3** Childcare Disqualification

- 11.3.1 Where employing teachers 16-19 Academies, Special Post-16 institutions and Independent Training Providers should contact employer.access.gov.uk to check that the individual is not prohibited from teaching. They must also obtain an enhanced DBS with barred list information for those working in regulated activity.
- 11.3.2 The Teacher Services' system can also be used to check for the award of qualified teacher status (QTS) and the completion of teacher induction or prohibition. Childcare disqualification is an additional requirement to the general child safeguarding arrangements provided under the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) regime, which apply to all children.
- 11.3.3 The childcare disqualification arrangements apply to staff working with young children in childcare settings, including primary schools, nurseries and other registered settings, such as childcare provision on college sites.
- 11.3.4 The arrangements predominantly apply to individuals working with children aged 5 and under, including reception classes, but also apply to those working in wraparound care for children up to the age of 8, such as breakfast clubs and after school care.
- 11.3.5 For staff who work in childcare provision, or who are directly concerned with the management of such provision, employers need to ensure that appropriate checks are carried out to ensure that individuals are not disqualified under the <u>Childcare</u> <u>Disqualification Regulations 2018</u>.

# 11.4 Statutory Induction for Newly Qualified Teachers

- 11.4.1 Statutory induction is the bridge between initial teacher training and a career in teaching. It combines a personalised programme of development, support and professional dialogue with monitoring and an assessment of performance against the relevant standards. The programme should support the early career teacher (ECT) in demonstrating that their performance against the relevant standards is satisfactory by the end of the period and equip them with the tools to be an effective and successful teacher.
- 11.4.2 Anybody appointed or engaged to teach in a maintained School or non-maintained special School in England must have satisfactorily completed their induction year and met the induction standards, in accordance with the Education (Induction Arrangements for School Teachers) (England) Regulations 2008, or be subject to the exceptions in Schedule 2 of those regulations.
- 11.4.3 There is no limit to the time taken to start or complete induction. However, if a teacher who has not completed an induction period chooses to undertake short term

supply work of less than one term, they can only do so for a maximum of 5 years from the date they were awarded Qualified Teacher Status. After 5 years, the only supply work that a teacher who has not completed induction could undertake would be positions where they are employed for a minimum of one term AND they must be working towards completing induction in these posts.

- 11.4.4 If a teacher fails their induction they are no longer permitted to work as a teacher in a maintained school.
- 11.4.5 If a teacher is employed for a period of a term or more and has not yet completed induction, they must undertake induction as part of that role and the school should have regard to the statutory regulations for induction.
- 11.4.6 Where an NQT has already completed part of their period in another institution, the Headteacher should contact the NQT's previous appropriate body (usually the Local Authority) to obtain copies of any assessment forms (including any interim assessments). They should establish how much induction time remains to be served and alert the new appropriate body to any concerns that have been raised about the ECT's progress by previous employers.

# 11.5 Health

- 11.5.1 Anybody appointed to a post that involves regular contact with children should have the health and physical capacity to undertake the duties of that post, in accordance with The Education (Health Standards) (England) Regulations 2003.
- 11.5.2 Schools must ensure that candidates complete an Occupational Health preemployment questionnaire which is assessed by the school's Occupational Health advisers.
- 11.5.3 Sufficient time should be allowed for this process, which may involve writing to the employee's doctor for more information, or the employee attending an appointment with the occupational health nurse/physician to discuss their medical condition. The occupational health advice may recommend adjustments to enable the individual to carry out their role. Schools should contact their HR provider if they have concerns over implementing the adjustments.
- 11.5.4 Where possible, the successful applicant should not take up post until the Headteacher or governing body is notified by Occupational Health or their HR provider that they are fit for work.
- 11.5.5 If they start work before the medical clearance is obtained, the Headteacher should carry out a risk assessment which should be kept on the personal file.

#### **11.6** Driving Licence/Insurance

11.6.1 If an employee is required to drive on School business or may be required to escort children in their own transport in an emergency, Schools should ask for evidence that the employee holds the appropriate and valid driving licence to do so and is insured to undertake business journeys. Copies of the licence and insurance documents must be retained on the employees file held within the School.

# **12.** Disclosure and Barring Checks

12.1 Governing bodies must act reasonably in making decisions about the suitability of the prospective employee based on checks and evidence including: Disclosure and Barring checks and barred list checks (together with prohibition checks, references and interview).

# **12.2** Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS Checks)

- 12.2.1 The DBS is responsible for administering two types of checks:
  - **Enhanced:** a check of the PNC records, plus other information held by the police that is considered relevant by the police
  - Enhanced with barred list information: for people working in *regulated activity* with children. This adds checks of the DBS Children's Barred List to the enhanced check. (Formerly known as a List 99 check)
- 12.2.2 When DBS has completed its check of an applicant's PNC record and, if appropriate, whether or not they are on the barred list, the relevant information will be recorded on a certificate (the DBS certificate) that is sent to the applicant.
- 12.2.3 DBS checks only cover criminal convictions in the UK. In addition, schools must make any further checks they think appropriate so that any relevant events that occurred outside the UK can be considered.
- 12.2.4 The level of DBS check required will depend on the role and duties of an applicant to work in a school, as outlined in this guidance.
- 12.2.5 To determine whether it is appropriate to request a DBS check and level of check required for an individual, it should first be determined whether the individual's role is considered to be regulated activity and whether or not they are supervised in their role.

#### **12.3** Definition of Regulated Activity

The full legal definition of regulated activity is set out in Keeping Children Safe In Education September 2016 document. The Government have produced a factual note on *Regulated Activity in relation to Children: scope* 

12.3.1 Regulated activity includes:

a) teaching, training, instructing, caring for (see (c) below) or supervising children if the person is unsupervised, or providing advice or guidance on well-being, or driving a vehicle only for children,

b) work for a limited range of establishments (known as 'specified places', which include schools and colleges), with the opportunity for contact with children, but not including work done by supervised volunteers;

c) Work under (a) or (b) is regulated activity only if done regularly. Some activities are always regulated activities, regardless of their frequency or whether they are supervised or not. This includes:

- relevant personal care, or health care provided by or provided under the supervision of a health care professional.
- personal care includes helping a child, for reasons of age, illness or disability, with eating or drinking, or in connection with toileting, washing, bathing and dressing
- health care means care for children provided by, or under the direction or supervision of, a regulated health care professional.

#### 12.3.2 Definition of Supervision

In order for a person to be considered as supervised, the law makes three main points:

- There must be supervision by a person who is in regulated activity:
- The supervision must be regular and day to day; and
- The supervision must be "reasonable in all the circumstances to ensure the protection of children"
- 12.3.3 The school must have regard to this guidance. While the precise nature and level of supervision will vary from case to case, guidance on the main legal points above is as follows:
  - Supervision by a person in regulated activity (regular and day to day) supervisors must be in regulated activity themselves.
  - The duty that supervision must take place "on a regular basis" means that supervision must not, for example, be concentrated during the first few weeks of an activity and then tail off thereafter, becoming the exception not the rule. It must take place on an ongoing basis, whether the worker has just started or has been doing the activity for some time.
  - Reasonable in the circumstances: within the statutory duty, the level of supervision may differ, depending on all the circumstances of a case. Schools should consider the following factors in deciding the specific level of supervision

the organisation will require in an individual case:

- ages of the children, including whether their ages differ widely
- number of children that the individual is working with
- whether or not other workers are helping to look after the children
- the nature of the individual's work (or, in a specified place such as a school, the individual's opportunity for contact with children)
- how vulnerable the children are (the more they are, the more an organisation might opt for workers to be in regulated activity)
- how many workers would be supervised by each supervising worker

# **12.4** Requesting a DBS Check for an Individual

- 12.4.1 A DBS check must be obtained for the individual before appointment.
- 12.4.2 The school is responsible for ensuring that the applicant brings the documents to the school to complete the DBS check. This should be done face to face using original documents. If one of these documents is being used to evidence ID checks and Right to Work, copies of relevant documents should be taken and kept on file.
- 12.4.3 Once the school has seen the necessary documents, they should complete Section Y of the form which determines the level of check, whether or not the person is a volunteer and the nature of the workforce the individual is working with. The school must check that the role title is correct. Schools must examine the address history on the online DBS application to determine whether an overseas check is also required. The form is then sent to the school's DBS Umbrella Body for countersigning and onward transmission to the DBS.
- 12.4.4 Obtaining a DBS can take some time so the school should ask the individual to apply in good time and bring in their original identity documents. However, the DBS check should not be more than three months old when an employee starts work. Sometimes a DBS check can become delayed. The DBS application can be escalated once it has been with the police for sixty days.
- 12.4.5 Individuals who have lived outside the United Kingdom must undergo the same checks as all other staff /volunteers in the school. This also applies to those individuals currently living or working abroad.
- 12.4.6 DBS check only covers criminal convictions in the UK, so schools must make any further checks they think appropriate so that any relevant events that occurred outside the UK can be considered.
- 12.4.7 Applicants requiring a DBS check who have lived outside the UK in the past five years will need to provide Criminal Convictions Clearance from the country/countries they were residing in, because the DBS cannot generally trace individuals abroad. Schools should examine the address history on the DBS application to determine

whether an overseas check is necessary and write to the individual to explain what is required. The applicant is responsible for contacting the relevant Embassy to obtain a disclosure which should not be dated more than six months ago at time of receipt. This is generally called a 'certificate of good conduct'.

# Appendix 10 – Overseas Address Template Letter

#### **12.5** Dealing with the Outcome of a DBS Check

- 12.5.1 The successful applicant will receive a notification as to whether the DBS certificate contains any information about a criminal record or whether the certificate is clear. If a DBS check reveals information, details will be printed on the disclosure, which is only issued to the person applying for the DBS check. The disclosure shows cautions, warnings and/or convictions. It may show spent and unspent convictions and, for Enhanced checks, it will show other information that a police force deems relevant to disclose based on the nature of the role that the individual will be employed to do. If a check against the Children's barred list was requested, it will state whether or not there was a match with the list.
- 12.5.2 Whether the DBS certification contains information about a criminal record or whether the certification is clear, the applicant should be asked to bring the disclosure into school. If the certificate is clear, relevant details will be placed on the applicant's personal file.
- 12.5.3 Having a criminal record will not necessarily bar someone from working with the school, unless it is considered that the conviction renders them unsuitable for the position. Before a decision is reached on whether to offer or confirm employment to an individual, the individual should be offered the opportunity to discuss the contents of the disclosure with the Headteacher. The Headteacher must ask the individual to bring in their disclosure to discuss the nature of the convictions as soon as possible and they should not start work until they have done so.
- 12.5.4 Confidentiality and discretion is of paramount importance and access to criminal record information will be on a need-to-know basis.
- 12.5.5 In making the decision the Headteacher should consider:
  - The potential risks to MKET, the school, pupils and employees
  - The seriousness of the offence and its relevance to the post
  - The length of time since the offence occurred
  - Whether the offence was a one-off, or part of a history of offending
  - Circumstances of the offence (any relevant information offered by the applicant about the circumstances which led to the offence being committed, for example the influence of domestic or financial difficulties)
  - Whether the applicant's circumstances have changed since the offence was committed, making reoffending less likely
  - Attitude of applicant (degree of remorse, or otherwise, expressed by the applicant

# and their motivation to change)

- 12.5.6 Where a disclosure relates to a safeguarding issue, this should be discussed with the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) and the school's HR team. Headteachers must complete a record summarising their discussion with the individual and the decision they made and keep it in a secure confidential file. This should indicate how risks will be minimised if the decision is taken to proceed with their employment.
- 12.5.7 Having carefully considered the above factors a final decision can then be made as to whether the individual should be appointed or whether the conditional offer should be withdrawn. If the decision is not to appoint, the Headteacher will inform the applicant and send out a letter confirming the withdrawal of the conditional offer and details of the DBS appeal process.
- 12.5.8 The Code of Conduct for MKET employees' states: "If you are convicted of any criminal offence that you consider may be relevant to your employment while employed by the Council, you must inform your manager. If you are unsure about whether or not an offence should be disclosed, you should discuss this with your manager."

# 12.6 Working When a DBS Disclosure is Delayed or Outstanding

- 12.6.1 If a school allows an individual to start work in regulated activity before the DBS certificate is available, then they must ensure that the individual is appropriately supervised and that all other checks, including a separate **barred list check**, have been completed.
- 12.6.2 If a school knows or has reason to believe that an individual is barred, it commits an offence if it allows the individual to carry out any form of regulated activity. There are penalties of up to five years in prison if a barred individual is convicted of attempting to engage or engaging in such work.
- 12.6.3 For roles where a DBS Disclosure is required and an application has been submitted but is delayed or outstanding, the individual **may** be allowed to work in the School, subject to the Headteachers discretion and the following requirements:
  - The Headteacher has conducted a risk assessment and does not have any concerns regarding the person's suitability to do the work.
  - The risk assessment includes reviewing the individual's employment history and reasons for any broken work history or career changes, checking all references have been received, are satisfactory and have been checked against the work history records and checking whether health clearance has been received. A copy of the risk assessment should be retained on file.
  - If the Headteacher has any doubts regarding a person's background, such as broken service, then the risk must be addressed. For example, arrangements may

be made for the member of staff to undertake alternative work or to refrain from starting work. It is recommended that the Headteacher contact the school's HR provider for clarification and advice in these circumstances.

- All other pre-employment checks should have been completed. For those in regulated activity, this includes a check against the Children's barred list of people unsuitable or banned from working with children (formally List 99) and written confirmation has been received that no match has been identified.
- The individual should be closely supervised whilst on the school's premises until full DBS clearance has been received. Supervision requires the Headteacher to ensure that individuals are not allocated duties that put them in an unsupervised situation with pupils, that they are accompanied when working by a member of staff with DBS clearance, that their whereabouts are known to a senior member of staff when they are not working (e.g. during break times), that the individual fully understands their personal responsibility not to put themselves in a situation where they are alone with pupils and what to do if this situation arises.
- 12.6.4 The availability of information to the Headteacher regarding the other preemployment checks as detailed in this document is key because it enables the Headteacher to conduct an informed risk assessment.

# Appendix 11 - Risk Assessment Form

12.6.5 A written record should be made and retained when a Headteacher decides it is appropriate to allow an individual to work on the basis of the risk assessment.

# 12.7 Standalone Checks against the Barred List (Formerly List 99 Checks)

- 12.7.1 The Keeping Children Safe in Education Statutory Guidance clarifies who is eligible for a check against the Children's Barred list. An employer can only carry out the check against the Barred list if they are legally entitled to do so.
- 12.7.2 In order for a Children's Barred list check to be carried out, the individual must be in regulated activity. If they are supervised by someone else who is in regulated activity then they are not deemed to be in regulated activity. Anyone in regulated activity in school would need to have an Enhanced DBS check as well as the check against the Children's Barred lists.
- 12.7.3 Therefore, standalone checks against the Barred list will **ONLY** be required if the DBS check has been requested, but the disclosure not yet received.
- 12.7.4 The school should email the school's DBS provider requesting the Barred List check, confirming the person's name, date of birth and that the DBS application has been submitted and ID checked. The DBS Provider will carry out the check and confirm the outcome. All necessary information can then be obtained from the DBS application in progress.

# **13.** Appropriate Checks by Role

#### 13.1 Employees

- 13.1.1 For school employees, an Enhanced DBS check with Children's barred list check must be obtained as staff will be engaging in regulated activity which is unsupervised.
- 13.1.2 Casual employees paid on timesheets must undergo the same checks as contracted staff, regardless of how long they will be working in that role. Casual employees who do not work for 3 months or more must undergo new checks.
- 13.1.3 Where a person is appointed to a different post within the School, consideration should be given as to whether a new DBS disclosure is required. A risk assessment should be undertaken to decide on this. As part of the assessment, consideration will be given as to whether the new role has more access to children. A new/additional check would be required for an individual who moves to a new position that involves responsibilities not previously checked (e.g. moving from volunteer to employee of a School) or changing their role/level of supervision as a volunteer.
- 13.1.4 If an agency worker working in a school is subsequently appointed as an MKET employee, then the DBS (and all other pre-employment checks) must be carried out by the school.
- 13.1.5 Similarly, if a trainee teacher on a tuition fees route to QTS is appointed as an employee all appropriate checks must be carried out by the school.

#### 13.2 Volunteers

- 13.2.1 A volunteer is a person who performs an activity which involves spending time, unpaid (except for travel and other approved out-of-pocket expenses), doing something which aims to benefit someone (individuals or groups) other than or in addition to close relatives
- 13.2.2 DBS checks for volunteers as defined above are not charged for provided that the applicant does not benefit directly from the position the DBS application is being submitted for. The applicant must not:
  - receive any payment (except for travel and other approved out-of-pocket expenses)
  - be on a work placement
  - be on a course that requires them to do this role
  - be in a trainee position that will lead to a full time role/qualification

13.2.3 If the volunteer is deemed to be benefitting from the position the DBS application is

being submitted for, the school cannot define the person as a volunteer on the DBS application and the DBS will charge for a check. For the purposes of this guidance both groups of people described above will be included in the definition of volunteer.

- 13.2.4 Identity checks must be carried out on all volunteers usually this can be in conjunction with the identity check for the DBS. Photo ID or other ID documents should be kept on file. It is recommended that volunteers are asked to complete a short application form to ensure that personal details for each volunteer are kept on file.
- 13.2.5 For volunteers, the Headteacher must carry out an appropriate DBS check on all volunteers who are considered to be in regulated activity or who are unsupervised. The level of check required for volunteers is determined by the nature and frequency of the voluntary role they are carrying out and the level of supervision provided.
- 13.2.6 Under no circumstances should a volunteer in respect of whom no DBS checks have been obtained be left unsupervised or allowed to work in regulated activity.
- 13.2.7 For volunteers in regulated activity who will regularly teach or look after children on an unsupervised basis or provide personal care on a one-off basis, schools must obtain an enhanced DBS certificate with barred list check. A school **may not** request an enhanced DBS check with a barred list check for anyone working in the school that is not in regulated activity, but may request an enhanced DBS check **without** a barred list check.

	Volunteers Summary						
	Role Involves Tasks / Frequency that are Considered Regulated Activity	Role Does Not Involve Tasks / Frequency That are Considered Regulated Activity					
Regularly Supervised	Enhanced DBS check only	No check required – risk					
	must be obtained in Milton	assessment and					
	Keynes	professional judgement only					
Not Supervised	Enhanced DBS check with	Enhanced DBS check only					
	barred list check <b>must</b> be	must be requested in Milton					
	obtained	Keynes					

- 13.2.8 If a **volunteer is not engaging in regulated activity**, the school should undertake a risk assessment and **use their professional judgement** and experience when deciding whether to seek an enhanced DBS check. They should consider:
  - the nature of the work with children;
  - what the establishment knows about the volunteer, including formal or informal information offered by staff, parents and other volunteers;

 whether the volunteer has other employment or undertakes voluntary activities where referees can advise on suitability; and whether the role is eligible for an enhanced DBS check.

Schools should document their decision if they decide not to carry out an enhanced DBS by completing a risk assessment (**Appendix 10**).

13.2.9 MKET policy's is that volunteers who are not in regulated activity but who are left unsupervised must undertake an Enhanced DBS check (without a check against the barred list).

#### **13.3** Supply Teachers

- 13.3.1 Supply teachers fall into the following two categories:
  - Those engaged directly by the School
  - Those working via an Agency.
- 13.3.2 Schools who engage Supply Teachers directly are responsible for undertaking and retaining all of the required pre-employment checks required for an employee, including an Enhanced DBS check with a check against the barred list.
- 13.3.3 If a supply teacher, who is used occasionally, has not worked in MKET for three months or more, then a new DBS check must be sought.
- 13.3.4 When engaging a supply teacher through agencies, the Headteacher must ensure that all relevant checks have been completed by the agency. Confirmation of clearance of a specific teacher will usually be included on the booking confirmation emailed by the agency to the school. They must also check that the person presenting themselves for work is the same person on whom the checks have been made using photo ID. The individual must not undertake any work until the DBS clearance is confirmed by the agency.
- 13.3.5 A qualified teacher who gained QTS on or after 1 September 2007 and who has not completed an induction period, can undertake short-term supply work of less than one term in a relevant school for a maximum period of 5 years from the point of award of QTS. This is a fixed time limit with no discretion to extend. Short-term supply placements of less than one term, or equivalent, cannot count towards induction, as such posts will not provide an ECT with the breadth of experience, support and assessment necessary to enable them to demonstrate that their performance against the relevant standards is satisfactory.
- 13.3.6 The Headteacher or supply agency is responsible for ensuring that a teacher who has not satisfactorily completed an induction period is not eligible to carry out short-term supply work.
- 13.3.7 An ECT can work part-time as a short-term supply teacher, while concurrently serving induction in another part-time post after the five-year limit has expired. However, the

short-term supply post will not count towards induction.

- 13.3.8 Schools must obtain written confirmation from any agency, or third-party organisation they use that the organisation has carried out the checks on an individual who will be working at the school that the school would otherwise perform. This must include a barred list check if working unsupervised. The school must also check that the person presenting themselves for work is the same person on whom the checks have been made using photo ID where at all possible. The individual must not undertake any work until the DBS clearance is confirmed by the agency.
- 13.3.9 This applies to all agency/third party organisations supplying contracting staff to schools but particularly cleaning and catering staff. If unsure, schools should seek advice from the HR Team.

#### **13.4** Trainee/Student Teachers

13.4.1 Where applicants for initial teacher training are salaried by the school, the school must ensure that all necessary checks are carried out. As trainee teachers can undertake regulated activity, sometimes unsupervised, an enhanced DBS certificate and barred list check must be obtained. Where trainee teachers are fee-funded it is the responsibility of the initial teacher training provider to carry out the necessary checks and the school should receive confirmation of this from the ITT provider.

#### 13.5 School Governors

13.5.1 All Governors of a School are required to undertake a mandatory DBS Enhanced check following government changes that came in to effect on 18<sup>th</sup> March 2016.

#### 13.6 Contractors

- 13.6.1 Schools should have arrangements in place with contractors to make sure that the contractor, or any employee of the contractor working at the school has been subject to the appropriate level of DBS check, if any such check is required (for example because the contractor is carrying out teaching or providing some type of care for or supervision of children regularly).
- 13.6.2 Contractors and contractors' employees for whom an appropriate DBS check has not been undertaken should be supervised if they will have contact with children.
- 13.6.3 If a contractor working at a school is self-employed, the school should consider obtaining the DBS check, as self-employed people are not able to make an application directly to the DBS on their own account.
- 13.6.4 Schools should always check the identity of contractors and their staff on arrival at the school.

- 13.6.5 The tendering arrangements for centrally arranged contracts will include details of the contractor's responsibilities for back ground checks on staff working in Schools.
- 13.6.6 For those contracts that the school negotiates directly with the contractor the Headteacher must ensure that the appropriate checks are undertaken and that a risk assessment is carried out. The level of check for a contractor should be determined by whether or not they are in regulated activity and whether or not they are supervised on site when the children are there. Schools should follow the guidance for volunteers to determine the level of appropriate check required.

#### 13.7 Visitors

13.7.1 Schools do not have the authority to request DBS checks and barred list checks, or ask to see DBS certificates, for visitors (for example children's' relatives or other visitors attending a sports day). Headteachers should use their professional judgment about the need to escort or supervise visitors.

#### **13.8** Work Experience for Pupils

- 13.8.1 Schools organising work experience placements should ensure that policies and procedures are in place to protect children from harm.
- 13.8.2 If the activity undertaken by the child on work experience takes place in a "specified place" such as a school, and gives the opportunity for contact with children, this may itself be considered to be regulated activity. In these cases and where the child is 16 years or over, the work experience provider should consider whether a DBS enhanced check should be requested for the child/young person in question. DBS checks cannot be requested for children/young people under the age of 16.

#### 13.9 Children Staying With Host Families

- 13.9.1 Schools quite often make arrangements for their children to have learning experiences where, for short periods, the children may be provided with care and accommodation by a host family to which they are not related. This might happen, for example, as part of a foreign exchange visit or sports tour. Such arrangements could amount to "private fostering" under the Children Act 1989 or the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006, or both.
- 13.9.2 Where the child is under the age of 18 and the person who provides the care and accommodation is paid to provide that arrangement, or the arrangement is not made by the child's family, the private fostering arrangement could amount to regulated activity for the purposes of the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 regardless of the duration of the arrangement. If the school is responsible for making the arrangement, and has the power to terminate the arrangement, then it could be the regulated activity provider. If the arrangement is made by a third party, and that third party has the power to terminate the arrangement, then the third party is the regulated activity provider. A regulated activity provider will be

committing an offence if they knowingly allow a person to carry out a regulated activity whilst barred. Where the school or college is the regulated activity provider, it should request a DBS Certificate with barred list check. However, where the parents make the arrangements or take the responsibility for the selection of the host parents themselves, this will be a private matter between the child's parents and the host parents and in these circumstances the school will not be the regulated activity provider.

#### 13.10 Visiting MKET Staff

- 13.10.1 All staff employed by MKET in a role will have an Enhanced DBS level with a check against the barred list and other appropriate pre-employment checks will have been completed before they are able to go into school unsupervised.
- 13.10.2 Headteachers must not permit any member of staff who does not have full clearances in place visit another school, without sending another cleared employee to supervise or notifying the other school that supervision is required. Schools should ask to see an MKET Staff pass/school pass to verify identity of the individual.
- 13.10.3 Other groups of MKET staff who visit schools infrequently and, therefore, are not in regulated activity but who have Enhanced DBS checks, without a check against the barred lists, do not need supervision.
- 13.10.4 Other staff that visit from MKET who are not on the above lists must be supervised or visit when children are not on site. Headteachers should use their professional judgment about the need to escort or supervise visitors. Having checked the above roles, if schools are unclear as to which level of check a member of MKET staff has, they should contact the relevant Line Manager at MKET.

#### 13.11 Visiting Staff from Other Organisations

13.11.1Staff, such as trainee teachers, those working in privately run out of school activities, nurses, sports coaches and inspectors should be checked by their 'providing' organisation e.g. the university, primary care trust, local authority, and so on. It is sufficient for schools to seek written confirmation that appropriate checks, including DBS, have been done. Those whose DBS check does not include a barred list check must be supervised if working in regulated activity.

#### 14. Single Central Record (SCR)

- 14.1.1 Schools must keep a single central record, referred to in the regulations as the register. The single central record must cover the following people:
  - all staff (including supply staff and agency/third party staff, including volunteers) who work at the school,: this means those providing education to children;
  - People brought into the school to provide regular additional teaching or instruction for pupils but who are not staff members; for example, a specialist

sports coach or artist.

- all others who work in **regular contact with children** in the school, including volunteers/contractors / suppliers (i.e. those for whom an enhanced disclosure is required, )
- 14.1.2 Generally, the information to be recorded on these individuals is whether or not the following checks have been carried out or certificates obtained, and the date on which the checks were completed:
  - an identity check
  - a barred list check
  - an enhanced DBS check
  - a prohibition from teaching check
  - further checks on people living or working outside the UK
  - a check of professional qualifications (i.e. evidence of QTS)
  - a check to establish the person's right to work in the United Kingdom
  - Disqualification by Association (where applicable). For further information please refer to <u>Disqualification by Association</u>
- 14.1.3 MKET guidance would also recommend recording pre-employment health checks and evidence that two satisfactory references have been obtained for employees.
- 14.1.4 If an agency/third party is providing a named individual, details of dates of checks should be sought. However, if the organisation just supplies a person to fill the role (e.g. a sports coach, who is usually the same person, but they will substitute if they are absent) then a letter from the organisation stating they carry out appropriate checks on their employees is sufficient. Documentary evidence of check by the providing organisation should be kept on file.
- 14.1.5 Individuals who work for the Local Authority who will have one to-one access to children will have an Enhanced DBS with Children's Barred list check. They should be named on the SCR and their organisation/role identified but the detail of checks does not need to be held by the school.
- 14.1.6 For all visitors not included on the single central register, schools should require them to sign in. Where unsupervised access to children is likely, e.g. visiting local authority staff, schools should check their proof of identity.
- 14.1.7 For visiting staff who do have unsupervised regular access to children and young people such as educational psychologists, social workers, supply teachers, trainee teachers, nurses, sports coaches, MOD personnel and inspectors, their 'providing' organisation (for example, the supply agency, the university, primary care trust, local authority) should request the checks.
- 14.1.8 It is sufficient, for schools to seek written confirmation that appropriate checks, including DBS checks have been carried out and by whom and to confirm the identity of these visitors. It is not necessary (or practicable) to require a date for such checks

unless the providing organisation supplies a list of named individual supply staff. Written confirmation may be in the form of a public statement on the agency website, as is the case with Ofsted." For example the Ofsted website states:

'Ofsted and our inspection partners carry out all the required employment checks for staff who visit nurseries, childminders, schools as part of an inspection. This includes appropriate employment checks and an enhanced Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) disclosure. All HMI, Regulatory and Additional Inspectors carry official Ofsted photo identification badges so that schools and other providers know they have passed these rigorous safeguarding checks'.

#### 14.2 Recording and Retaining Information

- 14.2.1 All recruitment paperwork relating to unsuccessful applicants should be retained for an initial six month period and then confidentially destroyed in accordance with Data Protection Regulations.
  - 1. Details of all pre-employment checks must be recorded onto the 'Single Central Record' (SCR) and copies of documents must be signed and dated by person responsible and retained on individual personnel files that are kept within the school. The school must not retain copies of disclosure certificates.
  - 2. The Data Protection Act **DOES** allow sharing of personal information where that is required in order to fulfil a statutory requirement, such as child protection. Contact the school's HR team for further guidance on this.
  - 3. A high degree of confidentiality is required and information handled and stored within the best practice principles of the Data Protection Act
  - 4. Information must be retained in a secure locked cabinet with access controlled by the Headteacher.
  - 5. All Managers need to be aware of the issues and have access to the documentation, where appropriate for the purposes of child protection
  - 6. All concerns raised by people outside school must be treated with the same level of seriousness and addressed in accordance with guidelines in the child protection document.
- 14.2.2 Schools must not keep copies of DBS certificates in order to fulfil the duty of maintaining the Single Central Record.

#### 15. Induction, Probation and Code of Conduct

#### 15.1 Induction

- 15.1.1 All new starters, permanent or temporary, should have an induction programme. Equally, volunteers and contract staff should be appropriately introduced to the school.
- 15.1.2 Clearly the content and nature of the induction will vary according to the role and the previous experience of the new member of staff or volunteer. The purpose of an induction programme is to:
  - Help the new employee to settle quickly in the job
  - Demonstrate the importance the school attaches to the individual's development
  - Provide training and information about policies and procedures
  - Support individuals appropriately
  - Confirm code of conduct and expectations and provide examples of behaviour that would not be acceptable
  - Provide opportunities for new member of staff to raise concerns
  - Enable the person's line manager or mentor to recognise any concerns or issues about the person's ability or suitability at the outside and address them immediately
  - Support an ongoing culture of vigilance.

15.1.3 The Induction Programme should include information about:

- Policies and procedures in relation to safeguarding and promoting welfare of children e.g. anti-bullying, racism, internet safety, health and safety etc.
- Safe practice and standards of conduct and behaviour expected of staff and pupils in their establishment
- How and with whom any concerns should be raised
- Other relevant procedures (disciplinary, capability, whistle blowing)
- Appropriate level of child protection training according to the role
- 15.1.4 The induction process should support new staff by exploring the issues of child protection so that they do not place themselves or children at risk. It will confirm that the individual fully understands what the school expects of them, leaving no room for any claim that they were unsure of the boundaries of acceptable and unacceptable behaviour or were unaware of established procedures.
- 15.1.5 All staff must read Part 1 of Keeping Children Safe. For teachers, this familiarisation process is in addition to completing the statutory induction process.

#### 15.2 Probation

(For further information refer to MKET Probation Review policy)

- 15.2.1 All support staff new to MKET will be required to undertake a probationary period of six months. Appointment onto the permanent staff will be subject to the successful completion of this probationary period
- 15.2.2 It allows the school and the employee to satisfy themselves that the job is being done satisfactorily and both parties are happy. If, despite your best efforts to assist, the situation is not working out, then with advice from the school's HR provider, you should be able to dismiss the employee with appropriate notice without having to go through a lengthy disciplinary or capability process.
- 15.2.3 If the appointment is going well, it's a good idea to meet with them and let them know all is well at intervals through the period.
- 15.2.4 If the employee is not doing well, you should meet with them and explain what they need to do to improve. Towards the end of the probation period, if you have seen some improvement but still need to see more, you can discuss extending the period with your HR team. If you finally decide to dismiss, a formal meeting will need to be held with the individual and this should be confirmed in writing. The school's HR Team will advise on this process. No probationary period should be extended up to two years.
- 15.2.5 If the employee is new to the school, but not new to MKET, they will not be subject to a probation period and the school will not be able to simply give notice at the end of the six month period, but it is still a good idea to carefully monitor and discuss progress in the first six months in the new job.

#### 15.3 Code of Conduct

- 15.3.1 Schools may choose to adopt the MKET Code of Conduct. If they choose not to, the Code of Conduct they use must cover all staff who work in the school on a paid or voluntary basis.
- 15.3.2 The aim of the Code is to establish guidelines and set professional boundaries for MKET employees which will help maintain and improve standards and protect employees from misunderstanding or criticism. It may be supplemented and clarified by additional guidance where necessary.

#### **15.4 Ongoing Performance Management**

- 15.4.1 The overall aim of the MKET Appraisal scheme for Teachers and support staff is to improve the performance of the school by helping its employees develop their potential and maximise their own contribution.
- 15.4.2 It is in everyone's interest to ensure that all employees know what is expected from them in their jobs and any performance standards to be met. It is also important that each employee and their manager or supervisor has an opportunity to discuss how work is going on an ongoing basis. The discussion should include any issues that

might arise during the year which impact on the employee's ability to get the work done to the standard/timescales required.

15.4.3 The appraisal policy for teachers sets the framework for a clear and consistent assessment of the overall performance of teachers, including the Headteacher, and for supporting their development within the context of the school's plan for improving education provision and performance, and the standards expected of teachers. The appraisal procedure will be used also to address any concerns that are raised about performance. If concerns are such that they cannot be resolved through the appraisal process, there will be consideration of whether to commence the underperformance procedure.

#### 16. Data Protection

- 16.1 Any data collected and processed as part of employing and managing employees is held securely. It is accessed by, and disclosed to, individuals only for the purposes of completing that specific procedure; process or activity.
- 16.2.1 Records are retained and destroyed in accordance with the organisations Retention Schedule.
- 16.3.1 Inappropriate access or disclosure of employee data constitutes a data breach and should be reported in accordance with Data Protection Policy immediately. It may also constitute a disciplinary offence, which may be dealt with under the Disciplinary Procedure.

#### 17. Review

17.1 This policy will be kept under review and be subject to amendments and changes when there are changes in society and legislation.

#### 18. Resources

Resource

## Where to find it

Working together to estaguard shildren	
Working together to safeguard children	gov.uk/government/publications/wor
	king-together-to-safeguard-children 2
	-
Keeping children safe in education	gov.uk/government/publications/kee
	ping-children-safe-in-education2
NSPCC education safeguarding self-assessment tool	https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/researc
and supplementary guidance	h-resources/schools/safeguarding-
	education-self-assessment-tool-esat/
NSPCC safer recruitment guidance	https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/safegua
	rding-child-protection/safer-
	recruitment#heading-top
DBS guide to eligibility	https://www.gov.uk/government/colle
	ctions/dbs-eligibility-guidance#dbs-
	workforce-guides
DBS code of practice	gov.uk/government/publications/dbs
	-code-of-practice
DBS barring referral guidance	gov.uk/government/collections/dbs-
	referrals-guidance2
Disclosure and barring service (DBS) example policy	gov.uk/government/publications/dbs
for recruiting ex-offenders	-sample-policy-on-the-recruitment-
	of-ex-offenders
The DBS continuous update service	gov.uk/government/publications/dbs
	-update-service-employer-guide
Criminal record checks for overseas applicants, gov.uk	gov.uk/government/publications/crim
	inal-records-checks-for-overseas-
	applicants
Recruiting safely and fairly: a practical guide to	nacro.org.uk/resettlement-advice-
employing ex-offenders, NACRO	service/support-for-
employing ex onenders, NACRO	employers/recruiting-safely-and-
	fairly-guide-a-practical-guide-to-
	employing-ex-offenders
Code of prostice on proventing illegel working. Heree	
Code of practice on preventing illegal working, Home	https://www.gov.uk/government/publ
Office	ications/preventing-illegal-working-
	guidance-for-employers-october-
	2013
What equality law means for you as an employer: when	equalityhumanrights.com/en/publicat
you recruit someone to work for you	ion-download/what-equality-law-
	means-you-employer-when-you-
	recruit-someone-work-you
Child Protection legislation and statutory guidance	https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/child-
	protection-system/england

## ©NSPCC 2020

## Appendix 1 – MKET Job Description/Person Specification Template





# Job Description Support Staff

Post title:	
School:	
Line manager/s:	
Pay Scale:	

Main purpose of the job:

Principal Duties:

• Any other reasonable duties requested by the Principal/Headteacher

#### NECESSARY KNOWLEDGE, EXPERIENCE AND SKILLS

	ESSENTIAL	DESIRABLE
Qualifications	5 GCSEs (A*-C including Maths &	Post 16 qualifications
	English)	
Experience		
Skills		
Other requirements		

#### **Dress Code**

#### Principles

MKET recognises the importance of personal appearance in setting high expectations and a positive tone. This is reflected in our Dress Code for staff and students.

#### Practice

All members of staff at Walton High follow a professional dress code. The formal standard of dress required of students has implications for how we as staff dress.

Male staff are expected to wear a jacket and tie when working with students in a classroom context. Similarly, whilst business suits are not essential for female staff, a similar level of smartness is expected. Extremes of fashion in clothes, hairstyle and jewellery should be avoided. In warmer weather the Principal may inform male staff that jackets and ties are not necessary. All staff should ensure that in warmer weather they are still suitably attired in smart professional dress, this means that flip-flops, short skirts and cropped tops / trousers and shorts should not to be worn. **General Requirements** 

# All school based posts are defined as Regulated Activity and therefore the post is subject to an Enhanced with Barred List DBS check.

All employees are expected to share this commitment, to follow MKET's safeguarding policies and procedures and to behave appropriately towards children and vulnerable adults at all times, both in work and in their personal lives.

All employees are expected to commit to uphold MKET's Equality and Health and Safety policies.

All staff must follow the MKET Code of Conduct.

All staff must have an understanding of the requirements of Data Protection and confidentially in the workplace.

## Job Description Teacher Main & Upper Pay Range

Post title:	Teacher
School:	Walton High
Line manager/s:	Subject Leader
Supervisory responsibility:	The post holder may be responsible for the deployment and supervision of the work of Learning Support Assistants assigned to their class(es)

Main purpose of the job:

- Be responsible for the learning and achievement of all students in allocated classes, ensuring equality of opportunity for all
- Be responsible and accountable for achieving the highest possible standards in students' work and conduct
- Treat students with dignity, building relationships rooted in mutual respect, and at all times observing proper boundaries appropriate to a teacher's professional position
- Work proactively and effectively in collaboration and partnership with learners, other staff, parents/carers, governors and external agencies in the best interests of students
- Take responsibility for promoting and safeguarding the welfare of children and young people within the school
- Fulfil the professional responsibilities outlined in the current *School Teacher's Pay and Conditions Document*

#### Duties and responsibilities

All MKET teachers are required to carry out the responsibilities of a schoolteacher as set out in the current *School Teachers Pay and Conditions Document*. Teachers should also comply with the Teachers' Standards. A teacher's performance will be assessed against the teachers' standards and individual performance objectives as part of the appraisal process as relevant to their role in the school.

#### Teaching

- Deliver the curriculum as relevant to the age, ability and subject(s) taught
- Take a role in the preparation and development of teaching materials, teaching programmes and pastoral arrangements as appropriate

- Be accountable for the attainment, progress and outcomes of students taught
- Be aware of students' capabilities, their prior knowledge and plan teaching and differentiate appropriately to build on these demonstrating knowledge and understanding of how students learn
- Have a clear understanding of the needs of all students, including those with special educational needs; gifted and talented; EAL; disabilities; and be able to use and evaluate distinctive teaching approaches to engage and support them
- Demonstrate an understanding of and take responsibility for promoting high standards of literacy including the correct use of spoken English
- Use an appropriate range of observation, assessment, monitoring and recording strategies as a basis for setting challenging learning objectives for students of all backgrounds, abilities and dispositions, monitoring learners' progress and levels of attainment
- Make accurate and productive use of assessment to secure students' progress
- Give students regular feedback, both orally and through accurate marking, and encourage students to respond to the feedback, reflect on progress, their emerging needs and to take a responsible and conscientious attitude to their own work and study
- Use relevant data to monitor progress, set targets, and plan subsequent lessons
- Set homework and plan other out-of-class activities to consolidate and extend the knowledge and understanding students have acquired as appropriate
- Participate in arrangements for examinations and assessments

#### Behaviour and Safety

- Establish a safe, purposeful and stimulating environment for students, rooted in mutual respect and establish a framework for discipline with a range of strategies, using praise, sanctions and rewards consistently and fairly
- Manage classes effectively, using approaches which are appropriate to students' needs in order to inspire, motivate and challenge students
- Maintain good relationships with students, exercise appropriate authority, and act decisively when necessary
- Be a positive role model and demonstrate consistently the positive attitudes, values and behaviour, which are expected of students
- Have high expectations of behaviour, promoting self-control and independence of all learners
- Carry out break and other duties as directed
- Be responsible for promoting and safeguarding the welfare of children and young people within the school, raising any concerns following school procedures

#### Team working and collaboration

- Proactively participate in any relevant meetings/professional development opportunities at the school, which relate to the learners, curriculum or organisation of the school including pastoral arrangements and assemblies
- Work as a team member and identify opportunities for working with colleagues and take a role in sharing the development of effective practice with them

#### Fulfil wider professional responsibilities

- Work collaboratively with others to develop effective professional relationships
- Deploy support staff effectively as appropriate

- Communicate effectively with parents with regard to students' achievements and well-being using school systems/processes as appropriate
- Communicate and co-operate with relevant external bodies
- Make a positive and substantial contribution to the wider life and ethos of the school

#### Administration

- Register the attendance of and supervise learners, before, during or after school sessions as directed
- Participate in and carry out any administrative and organisational tasks within the remit of the current *School Teachers' Pay and Conditions Document*

#### Professional development

- Regularly review the effectiveness of own teaching and assessment procedures, evaluating the impact on students' progress, attainment and well-being, refining approaches where necessary responding to and providing advice and feedback
- Be responsible for improving own teaching, and that of others, through participating fully in training and development opportunities identified by the school or as developed as an outcome of the appraisal process
- Proactively participate with appraisal arrangements in accordance with MKET's Teachers' Appraisal Policy

#### Other

- To have professional regard for the ethos, policies and practices of the school and Trust, and maintain high standards in your own attendance and punctuality
- Perform any reasonable duties as requested by the Principal

#### Note

This job description is not your contract of employment or any part of it. It has been prepared only for the purpose of school organisation and may change either as your contract changes or as the organisation of the school is changed. Nothing will be changed without consultation.

Walton High was established with the intention of innovating, continually drawing on best practice and being open-minded to new ideas and situations. We are genuinely interested in distinctive and dynamic methods of teaching and learning.

# Person Specification Main & Upper Pay Spine Teacher

Specification	Essential	Desirable	Evidence
Qualifications	Qualified teacher status	Postgraduate degree and/or further relevant professional studies.	Application form
Experience	Experience of successfully teaching main subject(s) to at least Level 2.	Teaching experience in a school with a sixth form and successfully delivering Level 3 qualifications. Experience of successfully teaching more than one subject to Level 2 standard. Experience as an examiner/moderator.	Application form and interview
Philosophy	Commitment to embedding the school's Learning and Teaching policy. Commitment to self- evaluation and continuous improvement. Commitment to sharing best practice. Commitment to providing learning opportunities beyond the classroom and school day. Belief in the positive difference high quality educational opportunities make to peoples' lives.		Application letter and interview
Professional knowledge / understanding	Understanding requirements of exam board syllabi. Understanding of what constitutes added value in an educational context. Thorough understanding of current initiatives in Subject.	Experience of working with other agencies to enrich the education of students.	Application letter and interview

Specification	Essential	Desirable	Evidence
	Awareness of how to use comparative data for benchmarking and target setting.		
	Understanding of the pastoral role of schools and the work of external agencies.		
	Commitment to providing high quality learning opportunities for the whole community.	Experience of working with other organisations to provide learning opportunities.	
Community links	Commitment to working in partnership with parents.	Successful experience of promoting parental involvement.	Application letter and interview
	Commitment to working in partnership with businesses and the wider community.	Successful experience of involving businesses and the wider community in the life of the school.	
	Ability to inspire, challenge and motivate staff and students.		
	Excellent interpersonal skills.		
	Ability to give and receive effective feedback and act to improve own performance and that of others.		
Skills, attributes and	Ability to explain ideas clearly and succinctly.		
personal qualities	Competent user of ICT.		Interview
	Ability to ask for advice and support where necessary.		
	Self-motivating with a positive outlook.		
	Ability to work to deadlines and under pressure.		
	Excellent attendance and punctuality record.		

## Dress Code

#### Principles

Walton High recognises the importance of personal appearance in setting high expectations and a positive tone. This is reflected in our Dress Code for staff and students.

#### Practice

All members of staff at Walton High follow a professional dress code. The formal standard of dress required of students has implications for how we as staff dress.

Male staff are expected to wear a jacket and tie when working with students in a classroom context. Similarly, whilst business suits are not essential for female staff, a similar level of smartness is expected. Extremes of fashion in clothes, hairstyle and jewellery should be avoided. In warmer weather the Principal may inform male staff that jackets and ties are not necessary. All staff should ensure that in warmer weather they are still suitably attired in smart professional dress, this means that flip-flops, short skirts and cropped tops / trousers and shorts should not to be worn.

#### **General Requirements**

All school based posts are defined as Regulated Activity and therefore the post is subject to an Enhanced with Barred List DBS check.

All employees are expected to share this commitment, to follow MKET's safeguarding policies and procedures and to behave appropriately towards children and vulnerable adults at all times, both in work and in their personal lives.

Commitment to uphold MKET's Equality and Health and Safety policies.

All staff must follow the MKET Code of Conduct.

All staff must have an understanding of the requirements of Data Protection and confidentially in the workplace.

#### **Appendix 2 – Template Advertisement**

#### Walton High

Bringing out the very best in young people Fyfield Barrow, Milton Keynes, MK7 7WH Fen Street, Brooklands, Milton Keynes, MK10 7HE Tel 01908 677954 <u>www.waltonhigh.org.uk</u> Executive Principal: Michelle Currie

#### **Examinations Officer**

£24,660 - £30,131 per annum, 37 hours per week, 52 weeks per year.

This challenging and exciting role supports the Vice Principal in fulfilling the Exams Office function.

The principal duties include leading a team in the administration and timetabling of internal and external examinations and liaising with teachers and support staff over examination entries.

Previous experience of running examinations and working with examination bodies is essential.

The successful postholder will have excellent organisational skills, strong communication skills for liaising with students and parents as well as training invigilators as required. The postholder must also be comfortable with preparing statistics and keeping assessment data up to date.

For an application form or further details, please visit our website www.waltonhigh.org.uk

#### Closing date: midday on 16 October 2020

Walton High is committed to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and expects all staff to share this commitment. These posts require an enhanced DBS check. Please follow the link for the MKET Child Protection and Safeguarding Policy <u>https://waltonhigh.fireflycloud.net/</u>

> Milton Keynes Education Trust Enabling ● Enhancing ● Enriching

#### Appendix 3 – Reference Request

Date xxxxx

Dear xxxx

#### Re: xxxx

XX has applied for a post of xxxxx Teacher and has given your name as a referee.

I should be grateful if you would complete and return the attached reference form to <u>hr@mket.org.uk</u> at your earliest convenience.

Kind regards

Muhdle Currie

Michelle Currie Executive Principal

#### Private and Confidential - Reference request form Please complete the form below as comprehensively and accurately as possible.

Candidate name	
Post applied for	
Reference completed by	
Organisation	
Position within organisation	
How long, and in what capacity, have you known the candidate?	
Dates of employment	
Job title	
Current FTE salary	
Do you have any concerns about this person working with children?	
Has this person been subject to any disciplinary procedures?	
Has this person been subject to any capability procedures?	
Would you re-employ this person?	

e use this space to provide any er comments.	
---	--

## Please assess the candidate in relation to the following:

Criteria	Excellent	Good	Fair	Poor	n/a
Teaching ability					
Subject knowledge					
Contribution to extra-curricular activities					
Classroom management					
Rapport with students					
Presence around the school					
Following school's policies and expectations					
Working relationship with line manager(s)					
Working relationships with colleagues					
Working relationship with parents					

Working relationship with third parties, e.g. Children's Services			
Organisation and administrative skills			
Ability to work on own initiative			
Ability to work under pressure			
Punctuality and reliability			
Ability to cope with the demands of their current role			
Ability to manage work/life balance			

## Appendix 4 – Example Shortlisting Grid

#### <u>SHORTLISTING -</u> (JOB TITLE : Date of advert closing)

School:

Candidate No.	Has the candidate declared a disability?	Enter Criteria	Overall Total				

#### **Appendix 5 - Invite to Interview Letter**

Name Address

Date

Dear

Post of

Thank you for your application for the above post at Walton High. I am pleased to invite you to attend an interview on **Tuesday 3 November 2020 at 10.00am**. Please report to main reception at the **Brooklands Campus (MK10 7HE)**.

When you come to your interview, please bring your certificates with you and three original proofs of identification documents, one of which should be photographic and one should be proof of your entitlement to work in the UK (e.g. Passport and birth certificate) which we will photocopy for a DBS application. I have attached a list of valid identity documents which you can refer to.

If you have any further questions please do not hesitate to contact the HR Department.

Please confirm receipt of this e-mail and attendance to <u>hr@mket.org.uk</u>.

We very much look forward to meeting you.

Yours sincerely

#### Appendix 6 – Self Disclosure Form

Name

Address

Date

Dear

#### Self-declaration of Disclosure of Criminal Convictions

I write to advise you that you have been shortlisted for the position of xx at xx School.

Please complete the following self-declaration of any criminal record or information that would make you unsuitable to work with children. Self-declaration is subject to Ministry of Justice guidance on the disclosure of criminal records, For example:

- if you have a criminal history;
- whether you are included on the barred list;
- whether you are prohibited from teaching;
- whether they are prohibited from taking part in the management of an independent school;

• information about any criminal offences committed in any country in line with the law as applicable in England and Wales, not the law in their country of origin or where they were convicted;

- if you are known to the police and children's social care;
- have you been disqualified from providing childcare (see paras 245-249); and,
- any relevant overseas information.

Further information can be found on www.GOV.UK

#### Self-declaration of Disclosure of Criminal Convictions

#### DISCLOSURE OF CRIMINAL CONVICTIONS

The post for which this application applies is considered exempt by the virtue of the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exemptions) Order 1975. You are therefore required to disclose any nonprotected spent and unspent convictions, cautions, final warnings and reprimands including motor vehicle related offences, including convictions that would otherwise be considered 'spent'. A conviction will not necessarily bar you from obtaining employment. Failure to disclose any criminal convictions, in the event of your employment, may result in disciplinary action or dismissal.

I have no criminal convictions	
Signature:	Dated:
I enclose the following details of criminal convictions	
Signature:	Dated:

Please provide any additional Self declaration information below or on a separate page.

Please print your name:

Signature:

Dated:

#### Appendix 7 - Example Teacher Offer Letter

#### **HEADED PAPER**

Name Address

#### **Private and Confidential**

Date

Dear

#### Post of xxxx

I am pleased to confirm the verbal offer of the post of xxxx with a start date to be agreed. Your commencing salary will be £xxxx per annum based on xx of the MKET pay scale. In addition, you will also receive a TLR of £xxxx per annum and a recruitment and retention payment of £xxxx per annum.

This offer is subject to the receipt of satisfactory approval of references, DBS and health checks. Formal documentation will follow in due course.

I am enclosing a Health Check form which needs to be returned in the envelope provided to the Human Resources department. The DBS application will need to be completed by you at home via an online link which will be sent to the email address stated on your application form. Please note that the application needs to be completed as soon as possible.

Please do not hesitate to contact Human Resources if you have any queries or concerns.

Yours sincerely

Sharon Alexander Principal

## Appendix 8 – Pre-Appointment Checklist

NAME:	JOB TITLE:				PAYROLL NO:			
DOB:		START D	DATE:			TEACHER NUMBER:		
DEPT/YEAR		Line Ma	inager:					
	Req	ate Jueste d	Date Chased	Date Received	NOT	TES	Docs in Personal File	Details Record ed on SCR
			Recruitmer	t Paperwork F	or File			
ADVERT/JD/PS								-
SIGNED APPLLICATION FORM								_
EQUAL OPS FORM								_
SHORTLISTING GRID RECEIVED								_
INTERVIEW DOCUMENTS /NOTES								
		Pre-	Employment C	hecks Request	ed / Received		ſ	
REFERENCE 1								
REFERENCE 2								
DBS check								
Overseas check								
Health Clearance								
Children's Barred list check								
Risk assessment completed ( if any checks not back by start date)								
RIGHT TO WORK originals seen								
Photographic ID original seen								
QUALIFICATIONS - original seen								
Teachers induction period checked								
QTS and prohibition checked								
			Pape	erwork Issued			Γ	
Offer letter sent to employee								
New Employee Form Sent To Payroll provider								
Application Form Sent To Payroll Provider								
Equal ops form retained at School								
Contract Sent to employee								
	Sign	ed					Dates	
All checks /paperwork completed								
Personal file complete								

Appendix 9 – Right to work Checklist



# **Right to Work Checklist**

Name of person:		
Date of check:		
Type of check:	Initial check before employment	Follow-up check on an employee

	Step 1 Obtain
• You i	must obtain original documents from either List A or List B of acceptable documents.
	List A
1.	A passport showing the holder, or a person named in the passport as the child of the holder, is a British citizen or a citizen of the UK and Colonies having the right of abode in the UK.
2.	A passport or national identity card showing the holder, or a person named in the passport as the child of the holder, is a national of a European Economic Area country or Switzerland.
3.	A Registration Certificate or Document Certifying Permanent Residence issued by the Home Office to a national European Economic Area country or Switzerland.
4.	A Permanent Residence Card issued by the Home Office, to the family member of a national of a European Economic Area country or Switzerland.
5.	A <b>current</b> Biometric Immigration Document (Biometric Residence Permit) issued by the Home Office to the holder ndicating that the person named is allowed to stay indefinitely in the UK, or has no time limit on their stay in the UK

6.	A <b>current</b> passport endorsed to show that the holder is exempt from immigration control, is allowed to stay indefinitely n the UK, has the right of abode in the UK, or has no time limit on their stay in the UK.
7.	A <b>current</b> Immigration Status Document issued by the Home Office to the holder with an endorsement indicating the hamed person is allowed to stay indefinitely in the UK or has no time limit on their stay in the UK, <b>together</b> an official document giving the person's permanent National Insurance number and their name issued by a permeant agency or a previous employer.
8.	A <b>full</b> birth or adoption certificate issued in the UK which includes the name(s) of at least one of the holder's parents or doptive parents, <b>together with</b> an official document giving the person's permanent National Insurance number and their Name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer.
9.	A birth or adoption certificate issued in the Channel Islands, the Isle of Man or Ireland, <b>together with</b> an official statement giving the person's permanent National Insurance number and their name issued by a Government agency previous employer.
10.	A certificate of registration or naturalisation as a British citizen, <b>together with</b> an official document giving the person's permanent National Insurance number and their name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer.
	List B Group 1
1.	A <b>current</b> passport endorsed to show that the holder is allowed to stay in the UK and is currently allowed to do type of work in question.
2.	A <b>current</b> Biometric Immigration Document (Biometric Residence Permit) issued by the Home Office to the holder which indicates that the named person can currently stay in the UK and is allowed to do the work in question.
3.	A <b>current</b> Residence Card (including an Accession Residence Card or a Derivative Residence Card) issued by Home Diffice to a non-European Economic Area national who is a family member of a national of a European Economic Area country or Switzerland or who has a derivative right of residence.
4.	A <b>current</b> Immigration Status Document containing a photograph issued by the Home Office to the holder with a d endorsement indicating that the named person may stay in the UK, and is allowed to do the type of work in question, <b>ogether with</b> an official document giving the person's permanent National Insurance number and their e issued by a iovernment agency or a previous employer.
	List B Group 2

1	A Certificate of Application issued by the Home Office under regulation 17(3) or 18A (2) of the Immigration open Economic Area) Regulations 2006, to a family member of a national of a European Economic Area country Switzerland stating that the holder is permitted to take employment which is <b>less than 6 months</b> old <b>together with</b> <b>ositive Verification Notice</b> from the Home Office Employer Checking Service.
2	An Application Registration Card issued by the Home Office stating that the holder is permitted to take the employment in question, <b>together with a Positive Verification Notice</b> from the Home Office Employer Checking vice.
3	A <b>Positive Verification Notice</b> issued by the Home Office Employer Checking Service to the employer or prospective over, which indicates that the named person may stay in the UK and is permitted to do the work in question.

#### Step 2 Check

• You must <b>check</b> that the documents are genuine, that the person presenting them is the prospective end allowed to do the type of work you are offering.	mployee	e or employ	ee, the right	ful
<b>1.</b> Are photographs consistent across documents and with the person's appearance?	Yes	No	N/A	
<b>2.</b> Are dates of birth consistent across documents and with the person's appearance?	Yes	No	N/A	
<b>3</b> . Are expiry dates for time-limited permission to be in the UK in the future i.e. they have not passed (if applicable)?	Yes	No	N/A	
<b>4.</b> Have you checked work restrictions to determine if the person is able to work for you and do the type of work you are offering? (for <b>students</b> who have limited permission to work during term-times, you <b>must</b> also obtain, copy and retain details of their academic term and vacation times covering the duration of their period of study in the UK for which they will be employed)	Yes	No	N/A	

<b>5.</b> Are you satisfied the document is genuine, has not been tampered with and belongs to the holder?	Yes	No	N/A	
<b>6.</b> Have you checked the reasons for any different names across documents (e.g. marriage certificate, divorce decree, deed poll)? (Supporting documents should also be photocopied and a copy retained.)	Yes	No	N/A	
You must make a clear <b>copy</b> of each document in a format which cannot later be altered, and retain the	conv seci	irely: electro	nically or in l	hardcor

You must make a clear **copy** of each document in a format which cannot later be altered, and retain the copy securely: electronically or in hardcopy You must copy and retain:

**Passports**: any page with the document expiry date, nationality, date of birth, signature, leave expiry date, biometric details and

photograph, and any page containing information indicating the holder has an entitlement to enter or remain in the UK and undertake
 the work in question. 2. All other documents: the document in full, both sides of a Biometric Residence Permit.

#### Know the type of statutory excuse you have

If you have correctly carried out the above 3 steps you will have an excuse against liability for a civil penalty if the above named person is found to be working for you illegally. However, you need to know whether you have a continuous or a time-limited excuse, because this determines how long it lasts for, and if and when you are required to do a follow-up check.

The documents that you have checked and copied are from:

**1.** List A You have a continuous statutory excuse for the full duration of the person's employment with you. You are not required to carry out any repeat right to work checks on this person.

2. List B: Group 1 Vou have a time-limited statutory excuse which expires when the person's permission to be in the UK and undertake the work in question expires. You should carry out a follow-up check when the document evidencing their permission to work expires.

**3.** List B: Group 2 You have a time-limited statutory excuse which expires 6 months from the date specified in your Positive Verification Notice. This means that you should carry out a follow-up check when this notice expires.

Date follow-up check required:

1.

#### Appendix 10 – Overseas Address Template Letter

#### PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL

[NAME] [ADDRESS]

#### [DATE]

Dear [NAME]

#### **DBS Disclosure Application – Overseas address**

#### JOB TITLE: SCHOOL:

The address details that you have provided on your DBS application form shows that you have lived abroad during the last 5 years. The Disclosure and Barring Service does not have, at present, access to overseas criminal records. To enable a full check to be undertaken you are asked to provide a 'Certificate of Good Conduct' from the country in which you have been resident.

You will need to contact the relevant Embassy or High Commission to either obtain the document or to request the name and address of the Police Checking/Vetting Service in that country, who can supply you with the appropriate documentation.

For up-to-date information on the cost of an enquiry to a particular country's representative, please see the Foreign and Commonwealth Office website.

Further information can be found on the DBS website: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-applicants

You will appreciate we are required to undertake a full background check on all people working with children, so your assistance with this is appreciated.

Yours sincerely

[NAME] [JOB TITLE]

сс

#### Appendix 11 – Risk Assessment Form

	Post Holder	School
<u>DBS/ Medical</u> <u>RISK</u>	Carried Out By	Job Title
	Date of Assessment	Section /Department

## **ASSESSMENT**

(This must be carried out for <u>every</u> employee in a DBS checkable post who is due to start work before their DBS check has been completed. See overleaf for an example of how to complete the form. If you need any further guidance please contact HR)

Assessment Agreed by Manager: Sign & Print Name	
Assessment Agreed by Postholder: Sign & Print Name	
DBS check completed: Sign & Print Name	

Post Holder	Joe Bloggs	School	Good Primary school
Carried Out By	Headteacher : Name	Job Title	Teaching Assistant
Date of Assessment	01/01/14	Section /Department	KS1/ Y2

HAZARD IDENTIFICATION	CONTROL MEASURES IN PLACE (i.e. working under supervision, little or no contact with young children, recent cleared DBS check from another organisation, Safeguarding training, Inductions, etc )	GROUPS AT RISK (i.e. who/what may be harmed?	LEVEL OF RISK (Evaluate the risk as Low, Medium or High)	FURTHER ACTIONS REQUIRED (What action should be taken or needs to be considered in order that the risks are effectively controlled)	RESPONSIBILITY (Who is responsible for ensuring the measures and actions identified are carried out i.e. Line Manager, Duty manager etc)	TIME SCALE (What is the target date for completion i.e. until DBS check is complete & satisfactory)
Unacceptable Behaviour towards Children						
An others identified						

# **DBS/Medical RISK ASSESSMENT (Example)**

(To be carried out for every employee in a DBS checkable post who is due to start work before their DBS check has been completed)

HAZARD IDENTIFICATION	CONTROL MEASURES IN PLACE (i.e. working under supervision, little or no contact with young children, recent cleared DBS check from another organisation, Safeguarding training, Inductions, etc )	GROUPS AT RISK (i.e. who/what may be harmed?	LEVEL OF RISK (Evaluate the risk as Low, Medium or High)	FURTHER ACTIONS REQUIRED (What action should be taken or needs to be considered in order that the risks are effectively controlled)	RESPONSIBILITY (Who is responsible for ensuring the measures and actions identified are carried out i.e. Line Manager etc)	TIME SCALE (What is the target date for completion i.e. until DBS check is complete & satisfactory)
Unacceptable Behaviour towards Children	<ul> <li>Does not work alone - always supervised in regulated activity</li> <li>Received training in induction regarding safeguarding</li> <li>Seen a clear DBS check from previous employer (Name of Previous Employer)</li> <li>Check against barred list completed 1/1/14 - clear</li> <li>DBS application and ID check completed - check in progress</li> <li>Satisfactory references received</li> </ul>	General Public - children	Low	Ensure class teacher/ other TA is aware the DBS has not yet been returned	Class teacher: - name	Until DBS clearance is confirmed - review risk assessment in 4 weeks Check DBS application status weekly

<ul> <li>Does not visit other schools</li> <li>No heavy lifting or prolonged standing until pre-employment medical advice received</li> </ul>			